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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. is a bank holding company.  The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Southern Michigan 
Bank & Trust (SMB&T) offers individuals, businesses, institutions and governmental agencies a full range of commercial 
banking services primarily in the southern Michigan communities in which they are located and in areas immediately 
surrounding these communities.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

“We strive to fully understand our clients and 
their individual needs in order to provide the 
best solutions for their businesses.”
 —John H. Castle, Chairman and CEO

“...we remain confident 
that the bank is well 
positioned to emerge 
as a key player in what 
is likely to be a rapidly 
consolidating industry 
over the next several 
years.”

     Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. attained record-
breaking results for 2013 by several key measures 
of financial performance.  Net income for the year 
totaled $4,499,000, or $1.88 per share, a high water 
mark in the company’s history and an increase of 3.4 
percent over 2012 totals.  Other record-setting marks 
included year-end total assets of $539.5 million and 
total loans of $386.0 million.
      Our outstanding results are attributable to a 
number of factors.  Substantial improvements in asset 
quality resulted in a decline of more than 40 percent 
in Southern’s provision expense for loan losses from 
$1,350,000 in 2012 to $750,000 for 2013.  Net 
charge-offs for 2013 totaled $967,000, or .25 
percent of loans, a significant drop from $1,307,000, 
or .35 percent of loans in 2012.  The growth of our 
loan portfolio, principally in loans to small and 
medium-sized businesses throughout our service 
area, resulted in an increase in net interest income 
for 2013 totaling $593,000.  Our net interest 
margin was further positively impacted by a decline 
of $669,000 in interest expense for the year, driven 
by continuation of the historically low interest rate 
environment and reductions in higher priced 
deposits and borrowings.
      Non-interest income grew modestly in 2013 to 
$7,237,000 from $7,181,000 in 2012.  Increases in 
service charge income, gains on sales of securities 
and growth in ATM and debit card revenues offset 
a decline of $455,000, or more than 21 percent, in 
gain on loans sold compared with 2012 results.
      Southern’s return on average assets and return on 
average equity for 2013 was .84 percent and 8.01 
percent, respectively.  Both ratios mirrored our 
results for 2012.  Our year-end capital ratios,

including a tier one leverage ratio of 9.64 percent 
and a total risk-based capital ratio of 13.65 percent, 
substantially exceeded regulatory minimums for 
well capitalized institutions.  During the year, we 
increased the quarterly dividend payout 8 percent 
to $.13 per share.  Southern’s total cash dividend of 
$.50 per share for 2013 represented an increase of 
35 percent over the $.37 per share for 2012.
      This year we are proud to highlight three 
businesses that represent the unique range of
commercial clients SMB&T serves.  Schuler’s 
Restaurant and Pub in Marshall, a landmark 
Michigan institution in restaurant circles, has been 
serving customers for more than 105 years.  Yoder’s 
Country Market, by comparison, is relatively new, 
having opened its doors in Centreville in 2005.  Don 
Seelye Ford and the Seelye Automotive Group have 
marked more than five decades of providing high 
quality autos and auto-related services to 
Kalamazoo area residents.  While diverse, they share 
similar attributes, challenges and philosophies in the 
way they manage their businesses.  All 
operate in tremendously competitive business 
environments.  Their customers have many choices, 
whether for dining options, prepared foods for the 
home, or purchasing new or used vehicles.  Hans 
Schuler, Jon and Brenda Yoder and Mike Seelye 
credit much of their business success to their 
attention to everyday details and their willingness to 
go the extra mile to provide exceptional customer 
service.
      We understand the business needs of Schuler’s, 
Yoder’s Country Market and the Seelye Automotive 
Group because Southern’s mission is also predicated 

on client satisfaction. We strive to fully understand 
our clients and their individual needs in order to 
provide the best solutions for their businesses.  
      Our pipeline of prospective new loan and 
business opportunities remains positive.  In addition, 
the conversion to a new operating system last year 
will enable us to expand our products and services 
while realizing the full benefit of lower costs.  These 
positive trends will help to offset other near term 
issues negatively impacting revenue and earnings.  
Anticipated declines in revenue resulting from a 
dramatic slowdown in mortgage loan refinancing 
activity will negatively impact non-interest income at 
all financial institutions in a significant way.  
      Sluggish economic conditions, persistently low 
interest rates and unprecedented regulatory 
intrusiveness continue to alter the competitive 
landscape for all financial institutions. As Southern 
has continued to perform better than most 
community banks throughout the country, we remain 
confident that the bank is well positioned to emerge 
as a key player in what is likely to be a rapidly 
consolidating industry over the next several years. 
Southern’s record earnings and historic financial 
metrics for 2013 are attributable to thoughtful 
planning and attention to detail by our board of 
directors and our management team. 
      As always, we thank you for your continued 
support.

Sincerely,

John H. Castle
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Jim Sobeske, Vice President / Commercial Loans, meets with 
Jon and Brenda Yoder at Yoder’s Country Market.

      on Yoder believes things
      happen for a reason.  He 
and his wife, Brenda, started 
Yoder’s Country Market in 2005 
as a bulk foods and deli store 
in Centreville, Michigan.  After 
hearing many of their customers 
request prepared food, they ex-
panded their selection to include 
barbecue meats, potato salad, 
sandwiches, a salad bar, and 
more.  “My philosophy has been
 to follow Christ’s example in 
serving others.  I believe the most successful people and 
organizations are the ones who choose to do business that 
way,” says Jon.  “It is a pleasure to serve customers by 
providing foods which are ready to take home for dinner.  
And, as far as we can tell, our customers love the quality and 
convenience.”
      With business booming, Jon and Brenda faced a new 
challenge.  They found that when bakery items were delivered, 
the shelves would be empty by mid-afternoon on the same 
day.  “We knew we needed to do something to keep up with 
the demand,” Jon notes.  In 2012, plans began for doubling 
the size of the market to include an in-house bakery, expanded 
kitchen and display counters, and a food pavilion for patrons 
to eat lunch during the warmer seasons.
      After months of waiting for his former bank’s approval to 
move forward, Jon became frustrated.  “Everyone was 
waiting for approval from a distant corporate office.  We 
needed to have this project completed before our busy 
season.”  The Wednesday before Thanksgiving in 2012, Jon was 
chatting with a loyal customer of Southern Michigan Bank & 
Trust.  As Jon described his frustrations, his customer 
responded, “You need to know Jim Sobeske with Southern 
Michigan Bank & Trust.”

“I was thrilled to be doing business with a 
local bank that took my needs and concerns 
into consideration.” —Jon Yoder

      Since it was Thanksgiving 
weekend, Jon contacted Jim 
Sobeske without expecting 
much to happen over the next 
four days.  However, after a 
productive conversation and 
exchange of detailed paper-
work, Jon was encouraged to 
meet Jim at the store 
Monday morning.  “When 
Jim left that morning, he

                                           shook my hand and told me
                                          to warm up the 
payloader,” adds a beaming Jon.  With financing under-
way, Tina Cronkhite, Centreville Branch Manager, and 
her staff quickly jumped into action and worked with                                          
the Yoder team to ensure a smooth banking transition.
      Jim Sobeske, Vice President and Commercial Loan 
Officer, smiles thinking of that day.  “I knew Jon was 
serious when I saw the payloader outside ready to go.  
The Southern Michigan Bank & Trust team was impressed 
with Jon and Brenda, their accomplishments, and their 
vision for the future.  We jumped at the opportunity to 
form a relationship with them and we understood the 
importance of timeliness with the project.  I was able to 
share key details of the construction process, which 
provided them an avenue to move forward quickly.”
      “It’s fulfilling to serve this community.  Now, we have 
a bank that believes the same thing we do:  if you listen 
to and serve your customers, success will follow.  It was 
no accident that the customer who referred us to 
Southern was in my store that morning,” says Jon.  “God 
puts you in the right place at the right time.”

J

Tina Cronkhite, Centreville Branch Manager, with Jon and Brenda 
Yoder.

CLIENT PROFILE: Yoder’s Country Market
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CLIENT PROFILE: Schuler’s Restaurant and Pub

John Castle, Chairman & CEO, and Kurt Miller, President, with 
Sue Damron, President and Managing Partner, and Hans Schuler, 
Chairman and CEO of Schuler’s Restaurant and Pub.

               he difference between
               good and great is a 
little extra effort.” – Biggie Munn
      The beams of Schuler’s 
Restaurant and Pub are inscribed 
with famous sayings, and this 
quote from Biggie Munn might 
serve as the organization’s 
corporate philosophy.  Chairman 
and CEO Hans Schuler 
exemplifies this when he’s on the 
floor of the restaurant, shaking 
hands and greeting guests with a 
warm, welcoming smile.  
      “We are only as good as the last meal we served,” states 
Hans.  Hospitality and teamwork are critical to success in the 
restaurant business.  “We have to know our guests and give 
them what they want while remaining true to our 
fundamentals.”  Being in business for over 105 years, Schuler’s 
has done just that – progressed with the times and ever-chang-
ing needs of their customers while remaining truly “Schuler’s.”  
      “Southern Michigan Bank & Trust is very much like 
Schuler’s,” observes Hans.  “They want to know their 
customers, give them what they want and need, and remain 
true to who they are.”  
      The Schuler’s team also reflects this philosophy.  “We have 
people who have worked here for over 40 years,” says 
President and Managing Partner Sue Damron.  “We have a 
great blend of experience and enthusiasm.”  Hans adds, “That 
sense of continuity is important to us.  We have a great team 
that loves to get up in the morning and come to work.”  
      It is the same mix of experience and enthusiasm at 
Southern Michigan Bank & Trust that Hans believes forms a 
strong partnership.  “Everyone from the teller to CEO John 
Castle creates that welcoming atmosphere.”   
      Schuler’s also has a strong commitment to their 
community.  Damron is a member of several community 
boards in Marshall, including being the Chair of the 

“They want to know their customers, give 
them what they want and need, and remain 
true to who they are.”—Hans Schuler

Downtown Development 
Authority and Vice Chair of 
the  Economic Development 
Alliance.  “You have to be a 
part of your community in 
order to be successful,” 
observes Hans.  “They 
support us, and we need to 
reciprocate. “  
      Commitment to 
community was the first thing

                                           Hans noticed about Southern
                                           Michigan Bank & Trust.
“They had just built an office here in Marshall, and we 
were working on a large community infrastructure 
project,” recalls Hans.  “In the course of the meeting, 
John Castle made a commitment to support the project 
with a generous donation.  It was nice to see them join in 
the community betterment that way, and it was refreshing 
to work with a financial institution that didn’t need ten 
committees to convene in order to approve something.”  
      “Hospitality, teamwork, commitment to community, 
and a little bit of extra effort is definitely the recipe for 
Schuler’s success,” states Kurt Miller, President of 
Southern Michigan Bank & Trust.  “We use the same 
ingredients for banking.” 
      John Castle, CEO of Southern Michigan Bank & Trust 
affirms, “Schuler’s longstanding reputation for providing 
quality dining experiences is widely recognized, and we 
are honored to have them as our customer.  Like 
Schuler’s, Southern Michigan Bank & Trust views the 
importance of being a good corporate citizen as an 
integral part of our core business.  Helping to improve 
the quality of life for others makes a company socially 
responsible and connected to its community. You get a 
nice return in more ways than one.” 

“T

Hans Schuler and Sue Damron meet with Kurt Miller and John 
Castle in the courtyard at Schuler’s Restaurant and Pub in Marshall. 
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               ike Seelye credits his
                business success to 
the lessons of integrity and hard 
work that his father, Don Seelye, 
taught him.
      In November 1963, Don 
Seelye became the full owner 
of his first car dealership.  Two 
weeks later, John F. Kennedy was 
assassinated, which shocked the 
nation and drastically crushed 
the economy.  Don thought he’d 
lose everything, but he was not a 
man to give up easily and refused to be labeled as a victim of 
circumstance.  
      Don joined the Marine Corps during World War II and lost 
an eye from a sniper bullet at the battle of Iwo Jima.  Instead 
of becoming a butcher as he originally planned, Don started 
working for the Howard Pore Ford Dealership by cleaning the 
parts department.  His dynamic personality and hard work 
soon won him a promotion to the parts service counter.  Don 
continued to rise through the ranks and titles until he became 
the owner.  In the fifty years since Don Seelye acquired his 
first dealership, the business has grown to include six new and 
used car dealerships throughout Southwest Michigan.
      This legacy left a big impression on Don’s son, Mike, and 
Don’s grandson, Mickey.  “Other kids wanted to be police-
men and firemen, but I wanted to be in the car business for as 
long as I can remember,” Mike laughs.  Both Mike and Mickey 
have followed in Don’s footsteps by rising from one level to the 
next, confirming that work ethic and integrity are family traits.
      In mid-2013, the Seelye Automotive Group began moving 
forward with a plan for a major renovation of the Ford 
Dealership and a new building for the Kia Dealership in 
Kalamazoo.  That’s when Mike called Tom Swoish, Regional 
Vice President/Commercial Loan Manager of Southern 
Michigan Bank & Trust.  “Southern started as just another bank 

“This started out as a business deal, but
Southern Michigan Bank & Trust invested
in me.”—Mike Seelye

from which to get a proposal,” 
Mike says.  “This was a large 
project with some intricacies, 
and it quickly became evident 
that the team at Southern 
doesn’t use boiler plates for 
their loans.  They listened and 
were willing to be flexible.  
They had the capability and 
experience to go above and 
beyond.”

                                                Through the loan process,
                                           Southern’s team was equally
impressed with Mike Seelye.  “Mike is an extraordinary 
individual.  He is a first class businessman, well-known 
for serving in leadership roles in a number of charitable 
organizations over the years.  We are privileged to know 
and work with him,” offers John Castle, CEO of Southern 
Michigan Bank & Trust.  Tom Swoish adds, “We were 
thrilled to have the opportunity to partner with Seelye 
Automotive Group on this project.  When Mike’s needs 
changed during the process, we were able to adapt to fit 
those needs.  That’s what we do.”
      In summing up his experience, Mike Seelye smiles. 
“This started out as a business deal, but Southern 
Michigan Bank & Trust invested in me.  They’ve built a 
relationship.  Southern operates very much like we do.  
They uphold the values of integrity and hard work, and 
they figure out a way to get the deal done.  The term 
‘enjoyable’ isn’t used very often in the same sentence 
as banking, but that’s exactly what this process 
was — enjoyable.”

M

Mike Seelye shows the drawing for the new Kia Dealership to John 
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Shareholder Information

Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. will be held on May 8, 2014 at 4:00 p.m. at the Dearth Community Center 
on the Branch County Fairgrounds in Coldwater, Michigan.

Market Makers
Boenning & Scattergood
Powell, Ohio
(866) 326-8113

Hilliard Lyons, Inc.
Coldwater, Michigan
(517) 278-4333 or
(800) 211-5257

Raymond James Financial Associates
Chicago, Illinois
(312) 655-2961 or
(800) 800-4693

Robert Baird & Company
Grand Rapids, Michigan
(616) 459-4491 or
(800) 888-6200

Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Inc.
Grand Rapids, Michigan
(800) 676-0477

Royal Securities Company
Grand Rapids, Michigan
(616) 459-2844 or
(888) 804-8891

Market Information
Inquiries regarding stock certificate administration, address changes, transfers, and other related services should be directed to:

IST Shareholder Services 

Website: www.istshareholderservices.com
Phone: (630) 480-0393
Toll: free (800) 757-5755
Fax: (630) 480-0641
Address: 433 South Carlton Ave. Wheaton, IL 60187-4872
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. Annual Report contains forward-looking statements that are based on management’s beliefs, 
assumptions, current expectations, estimates and projections about the financial services industry, the economy, and Southern Michigan 
Bancorp, Inc.  Forward-looking statements are identifiable by words or phrases such as “outlook”, “plan” or “strategy”; that an event or trend 
“may”, “should”, “will”, “is likely”, or is “probable” to occur or “continue”, has “begun” or “is scheduled” or “on track” or that the Company or 
its management “anticipates”, “believes”, “estimates”, “plans”, “forecasts”, “intends”, “predicts”, “projects”, or “expects” a particular result, or is 
“committed”, “confident”, “optimistic” or has an “opinion” that an event will occur, or other words or phrases such as “ongoing”, “future”, “signs”, 
“efforts”, “tend”, “exploring”, “appearing”, “until”, “near term”, “going forward”, “starting” and variations of such words and similar expressions.  
Such statements are based upon current beliefs and expectations and involve substantial risks and uncertainties which could cause actual 
results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.  These statements include, among others, 
statements related to trends in our credit quality metrics, future capital levels, future charge-off levels, real estate valuation, future levels of non-
performing assets and costs associated with administration and disposition of non-performing assets, the rate of asset dispositions, dividends, 
future growth and funding sources,  future liquidity levels, future profitability levels,  future effects of new or changed accounting standards, 
the effects on earnings of changes in interest rates and the future level of other revenue sources.  Management’s determination of the provision 
and allowance for loan losses, the appropriate carrying value of intangible assets (including goodwill and mortgage servicing rights), deferred 
tax assets and other real estate owned, the fair value of investment securities (including whether any impairment on any investment security 
is temporary or other-than-temporary and the amount of any impairment), and management’s assumptions concerning pension and other 
postretirement benefit plans involves judgments that are inherently forward-looking. All statements with references to future time periods are 
forward-looking.  All of the information concerning interest rate sensitivity is forward-looking.  Our ability to successfully implement new 
programs and initiatives, increase efficiencies, respond to declines in collateral values and credit quality, maintain our current level of deposits 
and other sources of funding, and improve profitability is not entirely within our control and is not assured.  The future effect of changes in 
the real estate, financial and credit markets and the national and regional economy on the banking industry, generally, and Southern Michigan 
Bancorp, Inc., specifically, are also inherently uncertain.  These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain risks, 
uncertainties and assumptions (“risk factors”) that are difficult to predict with regard to timing, extent, likelihood and degree of occurrence.  
Therefore, actual results and outcomes may materially differ from what may be expressed or forecasted in such forward-looking statements.

 Risk factors may emerge and could cause a difference between an ultimate actual outcome and a preceding forward-looking 
statement.  We undertake no obligation to update or revise our forward-looking statements to reflect developments that occur or information 
obtained after the date of this report.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion provides a review of the consolidated financial condition and results of operations 
of Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. (Southern) and its subsidiaries for the periods indicated.  This discussion should 
be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Overview

Southern is a Michigan corporation and a one bank holding company registered under the Bank Holding 
Company Act of 1956.  Southern wholly owns Southern Michigan Bank & Trust (the Bank) and Southern Michigan 
Bancorp Capital Trust I, a Delaware statutory trust.  The Bank wholly owns FNB Financial Services, Inc., a 
Michigan corporation.

Our business, which we conduct primarily through the Bank, is concentrated in a single industry segment -
commercial banking.  We offer a variety of deposit, payment, credit and other financial services to all types of 
customers.  These services include time, savings, and demand deposits, safe deposit services, and automated teller 
machine services.  Loans, including both commercial and consumer, are extended primarily on a secured basis to 
corporations, partnerships and individuals.  Commercial lending covers such categories as business, industrial,
agricultural, construction, inventory and real estate.  Consumer lending covers direct and indirect loans to purchasers 
of residential real property and consumer goods.  We offer trust and investment services, which include investment 
management, trustee services, IRA rollovers and retirement plans, institutional and personal custody, estate 
settlement, wealth management, estate planning assistance, wealth transfer planning assistance, charitable gift 
planning assistance, and cash management custody.  We operate 15 banking offices located in Battle Creek, 
Camden, Centreville, Coldwater, Constantine, Hillsdale, Marshall, Mendon, Tekonsha, Three Rivers, and Union 
City, Michigan and a loan production office located in Angola, Indiana.

At December 31, 2013, on a consolidated basis, we had assets of $539.5 million, deposits of $450.4
million, a net loan portfolio of $380.8 million, trust assets under management totaling $216.8 million, and 
shareholders’ equity of $56.8 million.

Results of Operations

Southern’s net income for 2013 was $4,499,000 compared to $4,350,000 in 2012, an increase of $149,000,
or 3.43%.  Provision for loan losses of $750,000 was expensed in 2013, down from $1,350,000 in 2012.  Non-
interest income increased 0.8%, or $56,000, to $7,237,000 in 2013.  Non-interest expense increased 4.7%, or 
$803,000, to $18,028,000 in 2013. Following is a summary of percentage changes from the prior year for various 
financial statement elements:

Percent Change
from Prior Year

Percent Change
from Prior Year

2013   2012   2013   2012   
Net interest income 3.45% 9.84% Total assets 2.00% 3.86%
Provision for loan losses -44.44% 28.57% Securities available for sale 17.79% -28.58%
Non-interest income 0.78% 10.73% Gross loans 4.44% 11.06%
Non-interest expense 4.66% 3.08% Allowance for loan losses -3.98% 0.79%
Net income 3.43% 27.87% Deposits 1.40% 5.63%

Other borrowings -100.00% -86.60%
Shareholders' equity 4.01% 5.34%

Results of operations can be measured by various ratio analyses.  Two widely recognized performance 
indicators are return on average equity and return on average assets.  Southern’s return on average equity was 8.01%
in 2013, 8.09% in 2012, and 6.80% in 2011. The return on average assets was 0.84% in 2013, 0.84% in 2012, and 
0.68% in 2011.
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Net Interest Income

Interest income is the total amount earned on funds invested in loans, investment securities and federal 
funds sold.  Interest expense is the amount of interest paid on interest bearing checking and savings accounts, time 
deposits, short term advances, subordinated debentures and other long-term borrowings.  Net interest income, on a 
fully taxable equivalent (FTE) basis, is the difference between interest income and interest expense adjusted for the 
tax benefit received on tax-exempt loan and investment securities.  Net interest margin is calculated by dividing net 
interest income (FTE) by average interest earning assets.  Net interest spread is the difference between the average 
yield on interest earning assets and the average cost of interest bearing liabilities.  Because non-interest bearing 
sources of funds also support earning assets, the net interest margin exceeds the net interest spread.

The presentation of net interest income on a FTE basis is not in accordance with GAAP but is customary in 
the banking industry.  This non-GAAP measure ensures comparability of net interest income arising from both 
taxable and tax-exempt loans and investment securities.  The adjustments to determine tax equivalent net interest 
income are itemized in Table 1 below.

Net interest income is the most important source of Southern’s earnings.  Changes in Southern’s net interest 
income are influenced by a number of factors, including changes in the level of interest earning assets, changes in 
the mix of interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities, the level and direction of interest rates and the 
steepness of the yield curve.

For 2013, Southern’s net interest margin (FTE) was 3.84% compared to 3.80% for 2012 and 3.63% for 
2011.  Southern’s interest rate spread and margin both increased as cost of funds for deposits and other borrowings 
decreased 0.20%, from 0.70% in 2012 to 0.53% in 2013, partially offset by yields on earning assets decreasing
0.11%, from 4.38% in 2012 to 4.27% in 2013. The net effect was an increase of $565,000 in net interest income 
(FTE) compared to 2012.

In 2012, Southern’s interest rate spread and margin both increased as cost of funds for deposits and other 
borrowings decreased 0.25%, from 0.95% in 2011 to 0.70% in 2012, partially offset by yields on earning assets 
decreasing 0.06%, from 4.44% in 2011 to 4.38% in 2012.  The net effect was an increase of $1,593,000 in net 
interest income (FTE) compared to 2011.
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The following table presents a summary of net interest income (FTE) for 2013, 2012 and 2011.

Table 1.  Average Balances and Tax Equivalent Interest Rates
2013 2012 2011

(Dollars in Thousands) Average
Balance Interest

Yield/
Rate

Average
Balance Interest

Yield/
Rate

Average
Balance Interest

Yield/
Rate

ASSETS
Interest earning assets:
Loans(1)(2)(3) $ 365,106 $ 18,397 5.04% $ 343,240 $ 18,550 5.40% $ 311,117 $ 17,681 5.68%
Taxable investment securities(4) 51,176 645 1.26 46,914 450 0.96 56,260 631 1.12
Tax-exempt investment securities(1) 31,242 1,327 4.25 31,950 1,448 4.53 27,323 1,393 5.10
Federal funds sold and other(5) 31,584 89 0.28 46,922 104 0.22 53,103 172 0.32
Total interest earning assets 479,108 20,458 4.27 469,026 20,552 4.38 447,803 19,877 4.44

Non-interest earning assets:
Cash and due from banks 11,317 3,588 11,226
Other assets(6) 47,832 49,287 49,024
Less allowance for loan losses (5,344) (5,230) (5,434)

Total assets $ 532,913 $ 516,671 $ 502,619
LIABILITIES AND

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Interest bearing liabilities:
Demand deposits $ 205,597 $ 481 0.23% $ 193,339 $ 504 0.26% $ 173,888 $ 519 0.30%
Savings deposits 59,339 28 0.05 54,837 25 0.05 50,789 44 0.09
Time deposits 97,416 1,344 1.38 109,831 1,800 1.64 127,675 2,578 2.02
Securities sold under agreements to

repurchase and overnight
borrowings 17,408 37 0.21 17,026 38 0.22 16,171 52 0.32

Other borrowings 265 12 4.53 5,641 183 3.24 8,916 282 3.16
Subordinated debentures 5,155 152 2.95 5,155 163 3.16 5,155 156 3.03
Total interest bearing liabilities(7) 385,180 2,054 0.53 385,829 2,713 0.70 382,594 3,631 0.95

Non-interest bearing liabilities:
Demand deposits 84,561 71,494 64,760
Other 4,866 3,897 3,866
Common stock subject to   

repurchase obligation 2,156 1,680 1,347
Shareholders’ equity 56,150 53,771 50,052
Total liabilities and shareholders’

equity $ 532,913 $ 516,671 $ 502,619
Net interest income $ 18,404 $ 17,839 $ 16,246
Interest rate spread 3.74% 3.68% 3.49%
Net margin on interest earning assets 3.84% 3.80% 3.63%

(1) Includes tax equivalent adjustment of interest (assuming a 34% tax rate) for securities and loans of $448,000 
and $95,000, respectively for 2013; $489,000 and $72,000, respectively for 2012; and $473,000 and $17,000, 
respectively for 2011.

(2) Average balance includes average nonaccrual loan balances of $5,162,000 in 2013; $5,876,000 in 2012; and 
$6,063,000 in 2011.

(3) Interest income includes loan fees of $207,000 in 2013; $288,000 in 2012; and $218,000 in 2011.
(4) Average balance includes average unrealized gain of $486,000 in 2013; $1,372,000 in 2012; and $737,000 in 

2011 on available for sale securities.
(5) Includes average federal reserve deposit account balances of $30,699,000 in 2013; $38,627,000 in 2012; and 

$50,658,000 in 2011.
(6) Includes $14,624,000 in 2013; $14,935,000 in 2012; and $15,267,000 in 2011 relating to goodwill and other 

intangible assets.
(7) Interest expense on deferred compensation balances totaling $94,000, $104,000 and $120,000 for 2013, 2012 

and 2011, respectively, is excluded from interest expense.

The following table presents a summary of net interest income (FTE) for 2013, 2012 and 2011.

Table 1.  Average Balances and Tax Equivalent Interest Rates
2013 2012 2011

(Dollars in Thousands) Average
Balance Interest

Yield/
Rate

Average
Balance Interest

Yield/
Rate

Average
Balance Interest

Yield/
Rate

ASSETS
Interest earning assets:
Loans(1)(2)(3) $ 365,106 $ 18,397 5.04% $ 343,240 $ 18,550 5.40% $ 311,117 $ 17,681 5.68%
Taxable investment securities(4) 51,176 645 1.26 46,914 450 0.96 56,260 631 1.12
Tax-exempt investment securities(1) 31,242 1,327 4.25 31,950 1,448 4.53 27,323 1,393 5.10
Federal funds sold and other(5) 31,584 89 0.28 46,922 104 0.22 53,103 172 0.32
Total interest earning assets 479,108 20,458 4.27 469,026 20,552 4.38 447,803 19,877 4.44

Non-interest earning assets:
Cash and due from banks 11,317 3,588 11,226
Other assets(6) 47,832 49,287 49,024
Less allowance for loan losses (5,344) (5,230) (5,434)

Total assets $ 532,913 $ 516,671 $ 502,619
LIABILITIES AND

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Interest bearing liabilities:
Demand deposits $ 205,597 $ 481 0.23% $ 193,339 $ 504 0.26% $ 173,888 $ 519 0.30%
Savings deposits 59,339 28 0.05 54,837 25 0.05 50,789 44 0.09
Time deposits 97,416 1,344 1.38 109,831 1,800 1.64 127,675 2,578 2.02
Securities sold under agreements to

repurchase and overnight
borrowings 17,408 37 0.21 17,026 38 0.22 16,171 52 0.32

Other borrowings 265 12 4.53 5,641 183 3.24 8,916 282 3.16
Subordinated debentures 5,155 152 2.95 5,155 163 3.16 5,155 156 3.03
Total interest bearing liabilities(7) 385,180 2,054 0.53 385,829 2,713 0.70 382,594 3,631 0.95

Non-interest bearing liabilities:
Demand deposits 84,561 71,494 64,760
Other 4,866 3,897 3,866
Common stock subject to   

repurchase obligation 2,156 1,680 1,347
Shareholders’ equity 56,150 53,771 50,052
Total liabilities and shareholders’

equity $ 532,913 $ 516,671 $ 502,619
Net interest income $ 18,404 $ 17,839 $ 16,246
Interest rate spread 3.74% 3.68% 3.49%
Net margin on interest earning assets 3.84% 3.80% 3.63%

(1) Includes tax equivalent adjustment of interest (assuming a 34% tax rate) for securities and loans of $448,000 
and $95,000, respectively for 2013; $489,000 and $72,000, respectively for 2012; and $473,000 and $17,000, 
respectively for 2011.

(2) Average balance includes average nonaccrual loan balances of $5,162,000 in 2013; $5,876,000 in 2012; and 
$6,063,000 in 2011.

(3) Interest income includes loan fees of $207,000 in 2013; $288,000 in 2012; and $218,000 in 2011.
(4) Average balance includes average unrealized gain of $486,000 in 2013; $1,372,000 in 2012; and $737,000 in 

2011 on available for sale securities.
(5) Includes average federal reserve deposit account balances of $30,699,000 in 2013; $38,627,000 in 2012; and 

$50,658,000 in 2011.
(6) Includes $14,624,000 in 2013; $14,935,000 in 2012; and $15,267,000 in 2011 relating to goodwill and other 

intangible assets.
(7) Interest expense on deferred compensation balances totaling $94,000, $104,000 and $120,000 for 2013, 2012 

and 2011, respectively, is excluded from interest expense.

The following table presents a summary of net interest income (FTE) for 2013, 2012 and 2011.

Table 1.  Average Balances and Tax Equivalent Interest Rates
2013 2012 2011

(Dollars in Thousands) Average
Balance Interest

Yield/
Rate

Average
Balance Interest

Yield/
Rate

Average
Balance Interest

Yield/
Rate

ASSETS
Interest earning assets:
Loans(1)(2)(3) $ 365,106 $ 18,397 5.04% $ 343,240 $ 18,550 5.40% $ 311,117 $ 17,681 5.68%
Taxable investment securities(4) 51,176 645 1.26 46,914 450 0.96 56,260 631 1.12
Tax-exempt investment securities(1) 31,242 1,327 4.25 31,950 1,448 4.53 27,323 1,393 5.10
Federal funds sold and other(5) 31,584 89 0.28 46,922 104 0.22 53,103 172 0.32
Total interest earning assets 479,108 20,458 4.27 469,026 20,552 4.38 447,803 19,877 4.44

Non-interest earning assets:
Cash and due from banks 11,317 3,588 11,226
Other assets(6) 47,832 49,287 49,024
Less allowance for loan losses (5,344) (5,230) (5,434)

Total assets $ 532,913 $ 516,671 $ 502,619
LIABILITIES AND

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Interest bearing liabilities:
Demand deposits $ 205,597 $ 481 0.23% $ 193,339 $ 504 0.26% $ 173,888 $ 519 0.30%
Savings deposits 59,339 28 0.05 54,837 25 0.05 50,789 44 0.09
Time deposits 97,416 1,344 1.38 109,831 1,800 1.64 127,675 2,578 2.02
Securities sold under agreements to

repurchase and overnight
borrowings 17,408 37 0.21 17,026 38 0.22 16,171 52 0.32

Other borrowings 265 12 4.53 5,641 183 3.24 8,916 282 3.16
Subordinated debentures 5,155 152 2.95 5,155 163 3.16 5,155 156 3.03
Total interest bearing liabilities(7) 385,180 2,054 0.53 385,829 2,713 0.70 382,594 3,631 0.95

Non-interest bearing liabilities:
Demand deposits 84,561 71,494 64,760
Other 4,866 3,897 3,866
Common stock subject to   

repurchase obligation 2,156 1,680 1,347
Shareholders’ equity 56,150 53,771 50,052
Total liabilities and shareholders’

equity $ 532,913 $ 516,671 $ 502,619
Net interest income $ 18,404 $ 17,839 $ 16,246
Interest rate spread 3.74% 3.68% 3.49%
Net margin on interest earning assets 3.84% 3.80% 3.63%

(1) Includes tax equivalent adjustment of interest (assuming a 34% tax rate) for securities and loans of $448,000 
and $95,000, respectively for 2013; $489,000 and $72,000, respectively for 2012; and $473,000 and $17,000, 
respectively for 2011.

(2) Average balance includes average nonaccrual loan balances of $5,162,000 in 2013; $5,876,000 in 2012; and 
$6,063,000 in 2011.

(3) Interest income includes loan fees of $207,000 in 2013; $288,000 in 2012; and $218,000 in 2011.
(4) Average balance includes average unrealized gain of $486,000 in 2013; $1,372,000 in 2012; and $737,000 in 

2011 on available for sale securities.
(5) Includes average federal reserve deposit account balances of $30,699,000 in 2013; $38,627,000 in 2012; and 

$50,658,000 in 2011.
(6) Includes $14,624,000 in 2013; $14,935,000 in 2012; and $15,267,000 in 2011 relating to goodwill and other 

intangible assets.
(7) Interest expense on deferred compensation balances totaling $94,000, $104,000 and $120,000 for 2013, 2012 

and 2011, respectively, is excluded from interest expense.
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The next table sets forth for the periods indicated a summary of changes in interest income and interest 
expense, based upon a tax equivalent basis, resulting from changes in volume and changes in rates:

Volume Variance – change in volume multiplied by the previous year’s rate.

Rate Variance – change in rate multiplied by the previous year’s volume.

Rate/Volume Variance – change in volume multiplied by the change in rate.  This variance was allocated to volume 
variance and rate variance in proportion to the relationship of the absolute dollar amount of the change in each.

Table 2. Changes in Tax Equivalent Net Interest Income

(Dollars in Thousands)
2013 Compared to 2012

Increase (Decrease) Due To
2012 Compared to 2011

Increase (Decrease) Due To 
Interest income on: Rate Volume Net Rate Volume Net

Loans $ (1,296) $ 1,143 $ (153) $ (896) $ 1,765 $ 869
Taxable investment securities 151 44 195 (84) (97) (181)
Tax-exempt investment securities (89) (32) (121) (165) 220 55
Federal funds sold and other 24 (39) (15) (50) (18) (68)

Total interest earning assets $ (1,210) $ 1,116 $ (94) $ (1,195) $ 1,870 $ 675

Interest expense on:

Demand deposits $ (54) $ 31 $ (23) $ (70) $ 55 $ (15)
Savings deposits 1 2 3 (22) 3 (19)
Time deposits (266) (190) (456) (447) (331) (778)
Securities sold under agreements to

repurchase and overnight
borrowings (2) 1 (1) (17) 3 (14)

Other borrowings 52 (223) (171) 7 (106) (99)
Subordinated debentures (11) - (11) 7 - 7

Total interest bearing liabilities $ (280) $ (379) $ (659) $ (542) $ (376) $ (918)

Net interest income $ (930) $ 1,495 $ 565 $ (653) $ 2,246 $ 1,593

Provision for Loan Losses

The provision for loan losses is based on an analysis of the required additions to the allowance for loan 
losses.  The provision is charged to income to bring the allowance for loan losses to a level believed adequate by 
management to absorb probable incurred losses in the loan portfolio.  Some factors considered by management in 
determining the level at which the allowance is maintained include specific credit reviews, historical loan loss 
experience, current economic conditions and trends, results of examinations by regulatory agencies and the volume, 
growth and composition of the loan portfolio.  The provision is adjusted quarterly to reflect changes in the factors 
above, as well as actual charge-off experience and any known losses.  For further information, see “Allowance for 
Loan Losses” below.

The provision for loan losses was $750,000 in 2013, compared to $1,350,000 in 2012, and $1,050,000 in 
2011. The lower provision in 2013 as compared to 2012 was a result of lower net loan charge-offs, loan delinquency
rates and specific reserves on impaired loans offset by growth in the commercial loan portfolio.
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The higher provision in 2012 as compared to 2011 was a result of increased loan balances.  Net loan 
charge-offs totaled $967,000 in 2013, compared to $1,307,000 in 2012 and $1,332,000 in 2011.

Non-Interest Income

Non-interest income of $7,237,000 increased $56,000, or 0.8% in 2013 compared to 2012.  Non-interest 
income of $7,181,000 increased $696,000, or 10.7%, in 2012 compared to 2011.  The 2013 increase was primarily a 
result of increased service charges on deposits of $320,000, or 18.9%, a $137,000 increase in net securities gains and 
an increase in ATM and debit card fee income of $67,000, or 5.8% in 2013 compared to 2012 offset by a decrease in 
net gains on loan sales of $455,000, or 21.6%.  The 2012 increase in non-interest income was primarily a result of an 
increase in net gains on loan sales which increased $873,000, or 70.7%, in 2012 compared to 2011 partially offset by 
a decline in service charges on deposit accounts of $337,000, or 16.6%, in 2012 compared to 2011.

Net securities gains of $140,000, $3,000, and $29,000 were recognized in 2013, 2012, and 2011,
respectively.  The 2013 gains resulted primarily from the sale of securities to fund loan growth.  The 2012 and 2011 
gains resulted from securities calls.

In order to reduce the risk associated with changing interest rates, Southern regularly sells fixed rate real 
estate mortgage loans in the secondary market.  Southern recognizes a gain at the time of the sale to the extent 
proceeds exceed the basis of the loan, excluding any value assigned to capitalized servicing rights. Southern 
originated real estate mortgage loans of $49,879,000 in 2013 compared to $73,963,000 in 2012 and $41,562,000 in 
2011. Net gains on loan sales decreased $455,000 in 2013 compared to 2012 as longer term mortgage rates 
increased reducing the volume of refinanced loans.   Net gains on loan sales increased $873,000 in 2012 compared 
to 2011.  

Income and fees from automated teller machines (ATMs) and debit cards increased $67,000, or 5.8% in 
2013 compared to 2012 and $132,000, or 13.0%, in 2012 compared to 2011. Increases for both years were primarily 
due to higher volumes of approved transactions.

Non-Interest Expense

Non-interest expense increased $803,000, or 4.7%, in 2013 compared to 2012 and $515,000, or 3.1%, in 
2012 compared to 2011.

Salaries and employee benefits expense increased $655,000, or 6.7% in 2013 compared to 2012 and 
$90,000, or 0.9%, in 2012 compared to 2011. The 2013 increase includes a $188,000 pension settlement charge and 
overtime hours and severance paid as a result of the core system conversion.

Equipment expense increased $41,000, or 6.1%, in 2013 compared to 2012 and $30,000, or 4.7%, in 2012
compared to 2011. The 2013 increase was the result of a full year of expense for copier leases that began in 2012.  
The 2012 increase was due to upgrades to the telephone system and security equipment resulting in higher 
depreciation.

Printing, postage and supplies expense increased $40,000, or 8.8% in 2013 compared to 2012 and 
decreased $44,000, or 8.9%, in 2012 compared to 2011. The increase in 2013 was primarily due to increased 
mailings regarding the core system conversion and the Bank’s overdraft program. The decrease in 2012 was 
primarily a result of a number of customers opting to receive statements and notices via electronic delivery which 
incur no postage or printing costs.

Telecommunication expenses increased $1,000, or 0.4% in 2013 compared to 2012 and decreased 
$103,000, or 27.4%, in 2012 compared to 2011.  The decrease resulted from a telephone audit completed in 2011
which identified excess telephone lines and reduced circuit costs.
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Professional and outside services increased $137,000, or 11.6% in 2013 compared to 2012 and $276,000,
or 30.4%, in 2012 compared to 2011. The 2013 increase was attributable to increased IT consulting fees relating to 
the core system conversion.  The 2012 increase was attributable to increased legal fees related to loan collections, as 
well as increased IT consulting fees as we researched outsourcing core system processing.

Software maintenance increased $194,000, or 24.5% in 2013 compared to 2012 and $181,000, or 29.6% in 
2012.  The increase in both 2013 and 2012 is primarily attributable to accelerated expense of the Bank’s previous 
core processing system.

FDIC deposit assessments decreased $30,000, or 7.7% in 2013 compared to 2012 and $87,000, or 18.2%, 
in 2012 compared to 2011.  The reduction in 2013 and 2012 was due to a formula change used to calculate the FDIC 
assessments.  The new formula was effective April 1, 2011.

Loss (gain) on sale or write down of OREO resulted in a $170,000 decrease to non-interest expense in 2013 
as compared to 2012 and increased $14,000, or 11.9%, in 2012 compared to 2011. The 2013 decrease is a result of 
gains recognized on the sale of commercial and residential property as well as no write downs for fair value 
impairment.

Income Taxes

Income tax provision was $1,727,000 in 2013, $1,430,000 in 2012 and $959,000 in 2011. Tax-exempt 
income continues to have a major impact on Southern’s tax expense.  The benefit offsetting lower coupon rates on 
municipal instruments is the nontaxable feature of the income earned on such instruments.  This resulted in a lower 
effective tax rate and reduced federal income tax expense $348,000 in 2013, $358,000 in 2012 and $311,000 in
2011. Additional income tax information is reported in Note K to the consolidated financial statements.

Financial Condition

Total assets at December 31, 2013 totaled $539,459,000, an increase of $10,599,000, or 2.0%, from total 
assets of $528,860,000 at December 31, 2012.  Cash and cash equivalents decreased $17,968,000 and available for 
sale securities increased $11,480,000 at December 31, 2013 compared to December 31, 2012.  Gross loans increased 
$16,406,000 and deposits increased $6,230,000 at December 31, 2013 compared to December 31, 2012.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2013 decreased $17,968,000, or 35.7%, compared to balances 
at December 31, 2012.  At December 31, 2013, Southern had balances of $19,827,000 with the Federal Reserve, 
compared to $36,347,000 at December 31, 2012.  At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the interest rate paid by the 
Federal Reserve exceeded the overnight federal funds rate paid by Southern’s primary correspondent bank.  Cash 
and cash equivalents decreased during 2013 primarily as a result of increases in the securities and loan portfolios.

Securities Available for Sale

The securities available for sale portfolio increased $11,480,000, or 17.8%, from December 31, 2012 to 
December 31, 2013.  The portfolio is monitored and securities or federal funds are purchased as deemed prudent by 
the Asset Liability Management Committee (ALCO). Excess cash was invested in the securities portfolio during 
2013.

The securities available for sale portfolio had net unrealized losses of $462,000 at December 31, 2013 and 
net unrealized gains of $1,214,000 at December 31, 2012.  Management has concluded that unrealized gains and 
losses within the investment portfolio are temporary because management believes they are a result of market 
changes, rather than a reflection of credit quality. 

At December 31, 2013, Southern had no investment in securities of issuers outside of the United States.
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Loans

Substantially all loans are granted to customers located in Southern’s service area, which is primarily 
southwest Michigan. Gross loans increased $16,406,000, or 4.4%, in 2013.  Gross loans increased $36,801,000, or 
11.1%, in 2012.  The increases in 2013 and 2012 were a result of increased loan demand.

Loan commitments, consisting of unused credit card and home equity lines, available amounts on revolving 
lines of credit and other approved loans which have not been funded, were $95,616,000 and $79,347,000 at 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  A high percentage of these commitments are priced at a variable 
interest rate, thus minimizing Southern’s risk in a changing interest rate environment.

Nonperforming Assets

Nonperforming assets include nonaccrual loans, loans modified under troubled debt restructurings, 
accruing loans past due 90 days or more, and other real estate owned, which includes real estate acquired through 
foreclosures and deeds in lieu of foreclosure.

A loan generally is classified as nonaccrual when full collectability of principal or interest is doubtful or a 
loan becomes 90 days past due as to principal or interest, unless management determines that the estimated net 
realizable value of the collateral is sufficient to cover the principal balance and accrued interest.  When interest 
accruals are discontinued, unpaid interest is reversed.  Nonperforming loans are returned to performing status when 
the loan is brought current and has performed in accordance with contract terms for a period of time.

In the course of working with borrowers, Southern may choose to restructure the contractual terms of 
certain loans.  In certain circumstances, Southern attempts to work-out an alternative payment schedule with the 
borrower in order to optimize collectability of the loan. Any loans that are modified are reviewed by Southern to 
identify if a troubled debt restructuring (“TDR”) has occurred, which is when, for economic or legal reasons related 
to a borrower’s financial difficulties, Southern grants a concession to the borrower that it would not otherwise 
consider. Terms may be modified to fit the ability of the borrower to repay in line with its current financial status 
and the restructuring of the loan may include the transfer of assets from the borrower to satisfy the debt, a 
modification of loan terms, or a combination of the two. 
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The following table sets forth the aggregate amount of nonperforming assets in each of the following 
categories:

December 31
2013 2012 2011

Nonaccrual loans: (Dollars in thousands)
Commercial and commercial real estate $ 1,661 $ 2,950 $ 3,626
Real estate mortgage 2,291 2,417 2,048
Consumer 10 16 29

3,962 5,383 5,703
Loans contractually past due 90 days or

more and still on accrual:
Commercial and commercial real estate - 26 6
Real estate mortgage - - -
Consumer - 7 -

- 33 6
Accruing loans modified under troubled debt

restructurings:
Commercial and commercial real estate 2,551 2,341 1,933
Real estate mortgage 1,759 1,232 1,607
Consumer - - -

4,310 3,573 3,540

Total nonperforming loans 8,272 8,989 9,249
Other real estate owned 1,818 1,633 1,530

Total nonperforming assets $ 10,090 $ 10,622 $ 10,779
Nonperforming loans to year-end loans 2.14% 2.43% 2.78%
Nonperforming assets to total assets 1.87% 2.01% 2.12%

The balance of nonaccrual restructured loans, which is included in nonaccrual loans, was $601,000 at 
December 31, 2013 $738,000 at December 31, 2012 and $694,000 at December 31, 2011.

Nonperforming loans are subject to continuous monitoring by management and estimated losses are 
specifically allocated for in the allowance for loan losses where appropriate. Nonperforming loans decreased from 
December 31, 2013 to December 31, 2012 and from December 31, 2012 to December 31, 2011 as a result of a
decrease in nonaccrual loans.  At December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, Southern had loans of $8,272,000,
$8,989,000, and $9,881,000, respectively, which were considered impaired.

Other real estate owned of $1,818,000 at December 31, 2013, increased $185,000 from December 31,
2012. During 2013 and 2012, loans of $1,496,000 and $2,069,000, respectively, were transferred to foreclosed 
assets.

In management’s evaluation of the loan portfolio risks, any significant future increases in nonperforming 
loans is dependent to a large extent on the economic environment.  In a deteriorating or uncertain economy, 
management applies more conservative assumptions when assessing the future prospects of borrowers and when 
estimating collateral values.  This may result in a higher number of loans being classified as nonperforming.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses is based on quarterly assessments of the probable estimated incurred losses 
inherent in the loan portfolio.  The allowance is maintained at a level, which in management’s judgment, is believed 
adequate to absorb probable incurred loan losses in the loan portfolio.  While management uses the information 
available to make these estimates, future adjustments to the allowance may be necessary due to economic, operating 
or regulatory conditions beyond Southern’s control.
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The allowance is based on two accounting standards: Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 450-10, 
Accounting for Contingencies and ASC 310-10, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan.  The 
methodology used relies on several key features, including historical loss experience, specific allowances for 
identified problem loans and a number of other factors recommended in regulatory guidance.

The historical loss component of the allowance is based on considering historical loss experience for each 
loan category.  The component may be adjusted for significant factors that, in management’s judgment, will affect 
the collectability of the portfolio.  The resulting loss estimate could materially differ from the losses actually 
incurred in the future.

Specific allowances are established in cases where management has identified significant conditions or 
circumstances related to a specific loan credit.  As of December 31, 2013, specific reserves totaled $609,000
compared to $758,000 at December 31, 2012, a decrease of $149,000, or 19.7%.

The final components of the allowance are based on management’s evaluation of conditions that are not 
directly measured in the historical loss component or specific allowances.  The evaluation of the inherent incurred 
loss with respect to these conditions is subject to a higher degree of uncertainty.  The conditions evaluated in 
connection with these components of the allowance include current economic conditions, delinquency and charge 
off trends, loan volume, portfolio mix, concentrations of credit, lending policies and procedures and lending 
personnel.

The allowance for loan losses was $5,238,000, or 1.36% of loans, at December 31, 2013 compared to 
$5,455,000, or 1.48% of loans, at December 31, 2012.

The allowance for loan losses at December 31, 2013 consisted of $2,250,000 from the historical loss 
experience component and specifically allocated reserves, leaving $2,988,000 from the other factors. This compares 
to $2,808,000 from the historical loss experience component and specifically allocated reserves and $2,647,000 
from the other factors at December 31, 2012.

At December 31, 2013, management was not aware of any problem loan that would have a material effect 
on loan delinquency or loan charge-offs.  Loans are subject to continual review and are given management’s 
attention whenever a problem situation appears to be developing.

Deposits

Deposits have traditionally represented Southern’s principal source of funds.  Total deposits increased
1.4%, or $6,230,000, in 2013 compared to 2012 and 5.6%, or $23,659,000, in 2012 compared to 2011. The majority 
of deposits are derived from core client sources, relating to long term relationships with local individual, business 
and public clients.  A small amount of brokered deposits, $2,091,000 at December 31, 2013, are maintained, but are 
not used to support growth.  Attracting and keeping traditional deposit relationships will continue to be a focus of 
Southern.
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Subordinated Debentures

In March 2004, Southern Michigan Bancorp Capital Trust I, a trust formed by Southern, closed a pooled 
private offering of 5,000 trust preferred securities with a liquidation amount of $1,000 per security.  Southern issued 
$5,155,000 of subordinated debentures to the trust in exchange for ownership of all of the common securities of the 
trust and the proceeds of the preferred securities sold by the trust.  Southern is not considered the primary 
beneficiary of this trust, therefore the trust is not consolidated in Southern’s financial statements, but rather the 
subordinated debentures are shown as a liability.  Southern may redeem the subordinated debentures subject to the 
receipt by Southern of the proper approval of the Federal Reserve, if such approval is required under applicable 
capital guidelines or policies of the Federal Reserve.  The subordinated debentures may be redeemed on January 7, 
April 7, July 7 and October 7 of each year either in whole or in integrals of $1,000 at 100% of the principal amount,
plus accrued and unpaid interest.  The subordinated debentures mature on April 6, 2034.  The subordinated 
debentures are also redeemable in whole but not in part, from time to time upon the occurrence of specific events 
defined within the trust indenture. Southern has the option to defer interest payments on the subordinated 
debentures from time to time for a period not to exceed 20 consecutive quarterly periods.  Southern’s investment in 
the common stock of the trust is $155,000 and is included in other assets.

The $5,000,000 in trust preferred securities is included in Tier I capital (with certain limitations applicable) 
under current regulatory guidelines and interpretations. The trust preferred securities and subordinated debentures 
have a variable rate of interest equal to the three month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 2.75%.  The 
rate at December 31, 2013 was 2.99%.

Capital Resources

Southern obtains funds for operating expenses and dividends to shareholders through dividends from the 
Bank.  In general, the Bank pays only those amounts required to meet the liquidity requirements of Southern, while 
maintaining appropriate capital levels at the Bank.  Capital is maintained at the Bank to support its current 
operations and projected future growth.  See additional discussion under the section titled “Liquidity” below.

Shareholders’ equity increased $2,192,000, or 4.0% from December 31, 2012 to December 31, 2013.  It 
increased $2,770,000, or 5.3%, from December 31, 2011 to December 31, 2012. The increases for both 2013 and 
2012 were primarily attributable to net income offset by dividends to shareholders. The 2013 and 2012 increase was 
also offset by $1,014,000 and $274,000 decreases, respectively, of accumulated other comprehensive income, 
related to a decrease in unrealized gains on available for sale securities and the change in accrued pension liability, 
net of related income taxes.  

The Federal Reserve Board uses capital adequacy guidelines in its examination and regulation of bank 
holding companies.  If capital falls below minimum guidelines, a bank holding company may, among other items, be 
denied approval to acquire or establish additional banks or non-bank businesses.

The FDIC Improvement Act of 1991 established a system of prompt corrective action to resolve the 
problems of undercapitalized banks. Under this system, federal banking regulators have established five capital 
categories: well capitalized, adequately capitalized, undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized and critically 
undercapitalized, in which all institutions are placed. The FDIC has also specified by regulation the relevant capital 
levels for each of the categories.

The FDIC is required to take specified mandatory supervisory actions and is authorized to take other 
discretionary actions with respect to banks in the three undercapitalized categories. The severity of the action 
depends upon the capital category in which the bank is placed. Subject to a narrow exception, the FDIC must 
generally appoint a receiver or conservator for a bank that is critically undercapitalized. A bank in any of the under-
capitalized categories is required to submit an acceptable capital restoration plan to its appropriate federal banking 
agency. An undercapitalized bank is also generally prohibited from paying any dividends, increasing its average 
total assets, making acquisitions, establishing any branches or engaging in any new line of business, except under an 
accepted capital restoration plan or with FDIC approval.
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Failure to meet capital guidelines could subject a bank to a variety of enforcement remedies, including 
issuance of a capital directive, the termination of deposit insurance by the FDIC, a prohibition on accepting brokered 
deposits, and other restrictions on its business. In addition, such a bank would generally not receive regulatory 
approval of any application that requires the consideration of capital adequacy, such as a branch or merger 
application, unless the bank could demonstrate a reasonable plan to meet the capital requirement within a reasonable 
period of time. 

Regulatory agencies have determined that the capital component created by the net unrealized gain or loss 
on available for securities should not be included in Tier 1 capital.  As such, that net unrealized gain or loss is not 
included in the capital ratios listed in Note U to the consolidated financial statements, nor is common stock subject 
to repurchase obligation in Southern’s employee stock ownership plan.

As of December 31, 2013, the capital ratios of the Bank exceeded the minimum thresholds to be 
categorized as “well-capitalized” under applicable regulations.  Note U of our consolidated financial statements 
provides additional information regarding our capital ratios.

Liquidity

Liquidity management involves the ability to meet the cash flow requirements of customers who may be 
either depositors wanting to withdraw funds or borrowers needing assurance that sufficient funds will be available to 
meet their credit needs.  Southern maintains certain levels of liquid assets (the most liquid of which are cash and 
cash equivalents, federal funds sold and investment securities) in order to meet these demands. Maturing loans and 
investment securities are the principal sources of asset liquidity.  Liquidity is monitored and closely managed by the 
ALCO, whose members are comprised of senior management.

Southern maintains correspondent accounts with regional and national banks for various purposes. 
Historically, cash sufficient to meet the operating needs of its branches is maintained at its lowest practical levels;
however, Southern continues to maintain high levels of liquidity, with investment securities, federal funds and cash 
and cash equivalents held to improve the liquidity of the balance sheet during this period of economic uncertainty.  
Southern expects to maintain higher than normal levels of liquidity until economic conditions improve and more 
attractive investment opportunities emerge.

From time to time, Southern is a participant in the federal funds market.  Federal funds are generally 
borrowed or sold for one-day periods. The average balance of federal funds sold was $296,000 in 2013 and 
$254,000 in 2012.  During 2013 and 2012, Southern averaged $30,699,000 and $38,627,000, respectively, on 
deposit at the Federal Reserve.

In the past, Southern has used overnight federal funds lines of credit with correspondent banks as a short 
term source of liquidity.  As of December 31, 2013, Southern had available a $3 million line of credit with a 
correspondent bank.  As a result of the decrease in federal funds lines of credit availability, collateral has been
pledged at the Federal Reserve Bank “Discount Window.”  At December 31, 2013, $3 million of securities were 
pledged that could be used for future borrowings.  In addition, Southern has $11.7 million of securities which are 
available to be pledged for future borrowings.  Southern also has the ability to borrow $33.6 million from the 
Federal Home Loan Bank based on FHLB stock owned and collateral pledged.

Southern’s principal source of funds to pay cash dividends is the earnings and dividends paid by the Bank, 
which are restricted under current banking laws and regulations.  Capital guidelines adopted by federal and state 
regulatory agencies and restrictions imposed by law limit the amount of cash dividends the Bank can pay to 
Southern.  At December 31, 2013, using the most restrictive of these conditions, the aggregate cash dividends the 
Bank could pay Southern without prior regulatory approval was $12.7 million.
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Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices

The majority of assets and liabilities of a financial institution are monetary in nature and differ greatly from 
most commercial and industrial companies that have significant investments in fixed assets or inventories.  
However, inflation does have an important impact on the growth of total assets in the banking industry and the 
resulting need to increase equity capital at higher than normal rates in order to maintain an appropriate equity-to-
assets ratio.  Another significant effect of inflation is on other expenses, which tend to rise during periods of general 
inflation.

Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Risk

Southern maintains off balance sheet financial instruments in the normal course of business to meet the 
financing needs of its customers.  These financial instruments include commitments to extend credit, letters of credit 
and standby letters of credit.  Loan commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer at any time, 
as the customer’s needs vary, as long as there is no violation of any condition established in the contract.  Letters of 
credit are used to facilitate customers’ trade transactions.  Under standby letters of credit agreements, Southern 
agrees to honor certain commitments in the event that its customers are unable to do so.  Commitments generally 
have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee.  Because many of the 
commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily 
represent future cash requirements.  At December 31, 2013, Southern had commitments of $95,616,000 for lines of 
credit, $2,282,000 in standby letters of credit and no commitments under commercial letters of credit outstanding.

These arrangements have credit risk essentially the same as that involved in extending loans to customers 
and are subject to Southern’s normal credit policies.  Collateral generally consists of receivables, inventory and 
equipment and is obtained based on management’s credit assessment of the customer.  These financial instruments 
are recorded when they are funded.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Net interest income is the largest component of Southern’s earnings.  Net interest income is the difference 
between the yield on interest earning assets and the cost of interest bearing liabilities.  Management of interest rate 
sensitivity seeks to avoid fluctuating net interest margins and enhance consistent growth of net interest income 
through periods of changing interest rates.

Interest rate risk arises when the maturity or repricing characteristics of assets differ significantly from the 
maturity or repricing characteristics of liabilities.  Accepting this risk can be an important source of profitability and 
shareholder value.  However, excessive levels of interest rate risk could pose a significant threat to Southern’s 
earnings and capital base.  Accordingly, effective risk management that maintains interest rate risk at prudent levels 
is essential to Southern’s safety and soundness.

A number of tools are used to monitor and manage interest rate risk, including income simulation and 
market value of equity analyses.  The income simulation model is used to estimate the effect that specific interest 
rate changes would have on net interest income assuming 1- 4% up and down ramped and shock changes to interest 
rates on both a static and dynamic balance sheet over 12 and 24 month periods. A 100 bp declining scenario was 
modeled at December 31, 2013 even though the Federal Reserve target rate remained at 0% - 0.25%. Rate declines 
were floored in the model so that no rate fell below zero percent.  Assumptions in the simulation are based on 
management’s estimates, and are inherently uncertain.  As a result, the models cannot predict precisely the impact of 
higher or lower interest rates on net interest income.  
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The income simulation results are shown in the table below:

Ramp Change/
Dynamic

12 month
% Change

24 month
% Change

Ramp Change/
Static

12 month
% Change

24  month 
% Change

+400 2.66% 9.01% +400 2.34% 8.45%
+300 1.03% 6.05% +300 0.74% 5.59%
+200 -0.58% 2.51% +200 -0.66% 2.34%
+100 -1.27% -0.48% +100 -1.21% -0.44%

-100 0.69% 0.95% -100 0.63% 0.92%
-200 NA NA -200 NA NA
-300 NA NA -300 NA NA
-400 NA NA -400 NA NA

Shock Change/
Dynamic

12 month      
% Change

24 month      
% Change

Shock Change/
Static

12 month
% Change

24 month
% Change

+400 8.56% 12.88% +400 7.94% 11.97%
+300 5.76% 9.04% +300 5.24% 8.33%
+200 1.91% 4.30% +200 1.48% 3.73%
+100 -1.47% -0.25% +100 -1.67% -0.50%

-100 1.91% 1.63% -100 1.76% 1.50%
-200 NA NA -200 NA NA
-300 NA NA -300 NA NA
-400 NA NA -400 NA NA

The market value of equity analysis estimates the change in the market value of equity using interest rate 
change scenarios from +4% to –4% in 1% increments.  As with the income simulation analysis, a declining 100 bp 
was modeled at December 31, 2013. The following table illustrates the percent change in equity based on changes 
in market interest rates:

change in market
value of equity

4% increase in market rates 22.75%
3% increase in market rates 17.97%
2% increase in market rates 12.56%
1% increase in market rates 6.58%

No change 0.00%

1% decrease in market rates -6.41%
2% decrease in market rates NA%
3% decrease in market rates NA%
4% decrease in market rates NA%

The results of the simulations at December 31, 2013 are within the guidelines set and approved by
Southern’s Board of Directors.  Management continues to monitor the ratios and report the results to the Board of 
Directors on a quarterly basis.
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Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations are based upon Southern’s 
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires Southern to make 
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Critical accounting policies are defined as those that are reflective of significant judgments and 
uncertainties, and potentially could result in materially different results under different assumptions and conditions.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses is maintained at a level management believes is adequate to absorb probable 
incurred credit losses inherent in Southern’s loan portfolio.  Accounting for loan classifications, accrual status and 
determination of the allowance for loan losses is based on regulatory guidance.  This guidance includes, but is not 
limited to, generally accepted accounting principles, the uniform retail credit classification and account management 
policy issued by the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council, and the joint policy statement on the 
allowance for loan losses methodologies also issued by the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council.  
Using this guidance, management estimates the allowance balance based on past loan loss experience, nature and 
volume of the portfolio, information about specific borrower situations and estimated collateral values, economic 
conditions, information in regulatory examination reports, and other factors.  Many of the factors listed are 
inherently subjective, and require the use of significant management estimates.

Fair Value Measurements

Southern uses fair value measurements to record certain financial instruments and to determine fair value 
disclosures.  Available for sale securities are financial instruments recorded at fair value on a recurring basis.  
Additionally, Southern may be required to record at fair value other financial assets on a nonrecurring basis.  These 
nonrecurring fair value adjustments typically involve write-downs of, or specific reserves against, individual assets.  
ASC 820-10-55, establishes a three level hierarchy for disclosure of assets and liabilities recorded at fair value. The 
classification of assets and liabilities within the hierarchy is based on whether the inputs to the valuation 
methodology used in the measurement are observable or unobservable.  Observable inputs reflect market driven or 
market based information obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect management 
estimates about market data.

The degree of management judgment involved in determining the fair value of a financial instrument is 
dependent upon the availability of quoted market prices or observable market data.  For financial instruments that 
trade actively and have quoted market prices or observable market data, there is minimal subjectivity involved in 
measuring fair value.  When observable market prices and data are not fully available, management’s judgment is 
necessary to estimate fair value.  In addition, changes in the market conditions may reduce the availability of quoted 
prices or observable data.  When market data is not available, management uses valuation techniques that require 
more judgment to estimate the appropriate fair value measurement.  Fair value is discussed further in Note A under 
the heading “Fair Values of Financial Instruments” and in Note T, “Fair Value Measurements”, of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Mortgage Servicing Rights

Mortgage servicing rights represent the allocated value of servicing loans that are sold with servicing 
retained by Southern.  Servicing rights are expensed in proportion to, and over the period of, estimated net servicing 
revenues.  Management’s accounting treatment of loan servicing rights is estimated utilizing a discounted cash flow 
model to determine the value of its servicing rights.  The valuation model utilizes mortgage prepayment speeds, the 
remaining life of the mortgage pool, delinquency rates, our cost to service loans, and other factors to determine the 
cash flow that we will receive from serving each grouping of loans.  These cash flows are then discounted based on 
current interest rate assumptions to arrive at the fair value for the right to service those loans.
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Acquisition Intangibles

Generally accepted accounting principles require a determination of the fair value of all of the assets and 
liabilities of an acquired entity, and recording of their fair value on the date of acquisition.  A variety of means are  
employed in determination of fair value, including the use of discounted cash flow analysis, market comparisons, 
and projected future revenue streams.  Once valuations have been adjusted, the net difference between the price paid 
for the acquired company and the value of its balance sheet is recorded as goodwill.  Goodwill is subject to an 
impairment analysis, performed at least annually.  Southern has elected to perform its annual goodwill impairment 
test as of November 30 each year.  Such test was performed by an independent third-party.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of Southern has prepared and is responsible for the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
and for their integrity and objectivity.  In the opinion of management, the financial statements, which necessarily 
include amounts based on management’s estimates and judgments, have been prepared in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, on a consistent basis.  Management also 
prepared the other information in the Annual Report and is responsible for its accuracy and consistency with the 
financial statements.

Southern maintains a system of internal accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded and that transactions are executed in accordance with the Southern’s authorizations and policies.  
Further, such a system provides reasonable assurances as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements 
which fairly present financial position and results of operations in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  Internal accounting controls are augmented by written policies covering 
standards of personal and business conduct and an organizational structure providing for division of responsibility 
and authority.

Management monitors the effectiveness of and compliance with established control systems through a continuous 
program of internal audit and credit examinations and recommends possible improvements thereto.  Management 
believes that, as of December 31, 2013, Southern’s system of internal controls has prevented or detected on a timely 
basis any occurrences that could be material to the financial statements and that timely corrective actions have been 
initiated when appropriate.

The Board of Directors exercises its responsibility for the financial statements and related information through the 
Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of outside directors.  The Audit Committee meets regularly with 
management and CliftonLarsonAllen LLP.  CliftonLarsonAllen LLP has direct and confidential access to the Audit 
Committee to discuss the results of their audit.

The 2013 consolidated financial statements have been audited by the independent accounting firm of 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP, which was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including 
minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the board of directors and committees of the board.  Management believes 
that all representations made to the independent auditors during their audit were valid and appropriate.  
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP’s auditor’s report is presented on the following page.

John H. Castle
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Danice L. Chartrand
Chief Financial Officer

February 14, 2013
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Shareholders and Board of Directors
Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc.
Coldwater, Michigan

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. and its 
subsidiaries, which compromise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related 
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013, and the related notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 2013 
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and we conducted 
our 2012 and 2011 audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and 
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Toledo, Ohio
March 11, 2014
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)

December 31,
2013 2012

ASSETS
Cash $ 4,006 $ 3,545
Due from banks 28,360 46,789

Cash and cash equivalents 32,366 50,334
Federal funds sold 148 276
Securities available for sale 76,005 64,525
Loans held for sale 115 1,776
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses of $5,238 - 2013 ($5,455 - 2012) 380,773 364,150
Premises and equipment, net 12,366 12,419
Accrued interest receivable 2,351 2,059
Cash surrender value of life insurance 10,979 10,644
Goodwill 13,422 13,422
Other intangible assets, net 1,045 1,341
Other assets 9,889 7,914

Total Assets $ 539,459 $ 528,860

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities

Deposits
          Non-interest bearing $ 85,670 $ 87,013
          Interest bearing 364,730 357,157
               Total deposits 450,400 444,170

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase and overnight
borrowings 18,479 16,134

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 6,351 5,662
Other borrowings - 1,039
Subordinated debentures 5,155 5,155
Common stock subject to repurchase obligation in

Employee Stock Ownership Plan, 126,931 shares outstanding in 2013
(125,125 shares in 2012) 2,247 2,065

          Total Liabilities 482,632 474,225

Shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock, 100,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding - -
Common stock, $2.50 par value:

          Authorized – 4,000,000 shares
          Issued – 2,392,630 shares in 2013 (2,375,975 shares in 2012)
          Outstanding (other than ESOP shares) – 2,265,699 shares
          in 2013 (2,250,850 shares in 2012) 5,665 5,627

Additional paid-in capital 17,533 17,700
Retained earnings 34,346 31,046
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net (717) 297
Unearned Employee Stock Ownership Plan shares - (35)

          Total Shareholders’ Equity 56,827 54,635
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 539,459 $ 528,860

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Interest income:
Loans, including fees $ 18,302 $ 18,478 $ 17,664
Securities:

          Taxable 645 450 631
          Tax-exempt 879 959 920

Other 89 104 172
          Total interest income 19,915 19,991 19,387
Interest expense:

Deposits 1,853 2,329 3,141
Other 295 488 610

          Total interest expense 2,148 2,817 3,751
Net Interest Income 17,767 17,174 15,636
Provision for loan losses 750 1,350 1,050
Net Interest Income after Provision for Loan Losses 17,017 15,824 14,586

Non-interest income:
Service charges on deposit accounts 2,015 1,695 2,032
Trust fees 1,128 1,126 1,120
Net securities gains 140 3 29
Net gains on loan sales 1,653 2,108 1,235
Earnings on life insurance assets 335 332 347
ATM and debit card fee income 1,214 1,147 1,015
Other 752 770 707

          Total non-interest income 7,237 7,181 6,485

Non-interest expense:
Salaries and employee benefits 10,368 9,713 9,623
Occupancy, net 1,034 996 1,194
Equipment 709 668 638
Printing, postage and supplies 492 452 496
Telecommunication 274 273 376
Professional and outside services 1,322 1,185 909
Software maintenance 986 792 611
Amortization of other intangibles 296 325 339
ATM expenses 449 422 371
Advertising and marketing 275 316 224
FDIC deposit assessments 360 390 477
Other real estate owned expenses 190 233 147
Loss (gain) on sale or write down of other real estate owned (38) 132 118
Other 1,311 1,328 1,187

          Total non-interest expense 18,028 17,225 16,710
Income before income taxes 6,226 5,780 4,361
Income tax provision 1,727 1,430 959
Net Income $ 4,499 $ 4,350 $ 3,402
Basic Earnings Per Common Share $ 1.88 $ 1.84 $ 1.46
Diluted Earnings Per Common Share $ 1.88 $ 1.84 $ 1.46
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(In thousands, except per share data)

                            Year Ended December 31, 
2013 2012 2011

Net Income $ 4,499 $ 4,350 $ 3,402

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale              

          securities (1,536) (151) 1,256
Accrued pension liability 138 (261) (106)
Reclassification adjustments for net realized 

          gains included in net income (140) (3) (29)
                  (1,538) (415) 1,121

Income tax effect (524) (141) 382

                 Other comprehensive income (loss) (1,014) (274) 739

Total Comprehensive Income $ 3,485 $ 4,076 $ 4,141
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands, except number of shares and per share data)
Years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

(Loss), Net

Unearned
ESOP
Shares Total

Balance at January 1, 2011 $ 5,583 $ 18,033 $ 24,692 $ (168) $ (297) $ 47,843
Net income for 2011 3,402 3,402
Net change in other comprehensive

income items 739 739
Cash dividends declared - $.22 per share (518) (518)
Issuance of restricted stock (18,525 shares of 

common stock at $12.70 per share) 46 (46) -
Vesting of restricted stock 105 105
Restricted stock forfeiture (643 shares) (2) 2 -
Change in common stock subject to repurchase (18) 121 103
Reduction of ESOP obligation 128 128
Stock option expense 63 63

Balance at December 31, 2011 5,609 18,278 27,576 571 (169) 51,865
Net income for 2012 4,350 4,350
Net change in other comprehensive

income items (274) (274)
Cash dividends declared - $.37 per share (880) (880)
Issuance of restricted stock (18,125 shares of 

common stock at $11.20 per share) 45 (45) -
Vesting of restricted stock 171 171
Stock options exercised (760 shares) 2 4 6
Restricted stock forfeiture (1,082 shares) (3) 3 -
Change in common stock subject to repurchase (26) (743) (769)
Reduction of ESOP obligation 134 134
Stock option expense 32 32

Balance at December 31, 2012 5,627 17,700 31,046 297 (35) 54,635
Net income for 2013 4,499 4,499
Net change in other comprehensive

income items (1,014) (1,014)
Cash dividends declared - $.50 per share (1,199) (1,199)
Issuance of restricted stock (17,875 shares of 

common stock at $16.50 per share) 45 (45) -
Vesting of restricted stock 193 193
Stock options exercised (25,330 shares) 63 225 288
Restricted stock forfeiture (920 shares) (2) 2 -
Repurchase of common stock (25,628 shares) (64) (384) (448)
Change in common stock subject to repurchase (4) (178) (182)
Reduction of ESOP obligation 35 35
Stock option expense 20 20

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 5,665 $ 17,533 $ 34,346 $ (717)$ - $ 56,827
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Operating Activities
Net income $ 4,499 $ 4,350 $ 3,402
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

from operating activities:
          Provision for loan losses 750 1,350 1,050
          Depreciation of premises and equipment 859 923 869
          Deferred income taxes (51) (122) 150
          Amortization of other intangible assets 296 325 339
          Net amortization of available-for-sale securities 567 588 952
          Stock option and restricted stock grant compensation expense 213 203 168
          Net gains on security calls and sales (140) (3) (29)
          Loans originated for sale (49,879) (73,963) (41,562)
          Proceeds on loans sold 53,193 75,383 44,346
          Net gains on loan sales (1,653) (2,108) (1,235)
          Net loss (gain) from sale or write down of other real estate owned (38) 132 118
          Net loss (gain) on disposal of premises and equipment 98 (9) 7

Net change in obligation under ESOP 35 134 128
Net change in:

               Accrued interest receivable (292) 89 (41)
               Cash surrender value (335) (332) (347)
               Other assets (1,216) 282 628
               Accrued expenses and other liabilities 801 713 44
          Net cash from operating activities 7,707 7,935 8,987

Investing Activities
Activity in available for sale securities:

          Proceeds on securities sold 7,327 - -
          Proceeds from maturities and calls 28,817 42,686 38,493
          Purchases (49,727) (17,606) (69,305)

Net change in federal funds sold 128 11 (12)
Loan originations and payments, net (19,303) (40,177) (25,504)
Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned 1,784 1,834 481
Proceeds from sale of equipment 7 62 58
Proceeds from sale of FHLB stock - - 176
Additions to premises and equipment (911) (849) (881)

          Net cash from investing activities (31,878) (14,039) (56,494)

Financing Activities
Net change in deposits 6,230 23,659 10,610
Net change in securities sold under agreements to repurchase and

overnight borrowings 2,345 (1,940) 3,047
Repayments of other borrowings (1,039) (6,712) (2,328)
Stock options exercised 288 6 -
Cash dividends paid (1,173) (760) (470)
Repurchase of common stock (448) - -

          Net cash from financing activities 6,203 14,253 10,859

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (17,968) 8,149 (36,648)
Beginning cash and cash equivalents 50,334 42,185 78,833
Ending cash and cash equivalents $ 32,366 $ 50,334 $ 42,185
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE A – NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations and Industry Segments: Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. (the Company) is a Michigan 
corporation and registered bank holding company under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956.  The Company’s 
business is concentrated in a single operating segment: commercial banking.  The Company’s wholly-owned 
subsidiary bank, Southern Michigan Bank & Trust (the Bank), offers individuals, businesses, institutions and 
government agencies a full range of commercial banking services primarily in the southwest Michigan communities 
in which the Bank is located and in areas immediately surrounding these communities.  The Bank makes 
commercial and consumer loans to customers.  The majority of loans are secured by business assets, commercial and 
residential real estate, and consumer assets.  There are no foreign loans.  

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and the 
Bank after elimination of significant inter-company balances and transactions.  The Bank owns FNB Financial 
Services, which conducts a brokerage business.  During 2004, the Company formed a special purpose trust, 
Southern Michigan Bancorp Capital Trust I for the sole purpose of issuing trust preferred securities.  Under 
generally accepted accounting principles, the trust is not consolidated into the financial statements of the Company.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.  Estimates that are more susceptible to change in the near term include the allowance for loan 
losses, deferred tax assets, fair values of securities and other financial instruments and pension and post retirement 
benefit obligations.

Securities: Management determines the appropriate classification of securities at the time of purchase.  If 
management has the intent and the Company has the ability at the time of purchase to hold securities until maturity, 
they are classified as held to maturity and carried at amortized historical cost.  Securities to be held for indefinite 
periods of time and not intended to be held to maturity are classified as available for sale and carried at fair value, 
with unrealized gains and losses reported in other comprehensive income or loss, net of tax.  Securities classified as 
available for sale include securities that management intends to use as part of its asset/liability management strategy 
and that may be sold in response to changes in interest rates, prepayment risk, and other factors.

Premiums and discounts on securities are recognized in interest income using the level yield method over the 
estimated life of the security.  Gains and losses on the sale of available for sale securities are determined using the 
specific identification method.  Securities are written down to fair value and reflected as a loss when a decline in fair 
value is not temporary.  In estimating other than temporary losses, management considers: (1) the length of time and 
extent that fair value has been less than cost, (2) the financial condition and near term prospects of the issuer, and 
(3) the fact that the Company has the intention and the ability to hold the security to maturity.

Loans Held for Sale: Loans held for sale are reported at the lower of cost or market value in the aggregate.  Net 
unrealized losses are recorded in a valuation allowance by charges to income.

Loans:  Loans are reported at the principal balance outstanding, net of unearned interest, deferred loan fees and 
costs, and an allowance for loan losses.  Interest income is reported on the interest method and includes amortization 
of net deferred loan fees and costs over the loan term.

Interest income is not reported when full loan repayment is in doubt, typically when payments are past due over 90 
days, unless the loan is both well secured and in the process of collection.  Past due status is based on the contractual 
terms of the loan.  All interest accrued but not received for these loans is reversed against interest income.  Payments 
received on such loans are reported as principal reductions until qualifying for return to accrual.  Loans are returned 
to accrual status when all the principal and interest contractually due are brought current and future payments are 
reasonably assured.



2013 SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. ANNUAL REPORT 27  

SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

NOTE A – NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Allowance for Loan Losses: The allowance for loan losses is a valuation allowance for probable incurred credit 
losses, increased by the provision for loan losses and decreased by charge-offs net of recoveries. Estimating the risk 
of loss and the amount of loss on any loan is necessarily subjective.  Management estimates the allowance balance 
based on past loan loss experience, nature and volume of the portfolio, information about specific borrower 
situations and estimated collateral values, economic conditions, information in regulatory examination reports, and 
other factors.  Allocations of the allowance may be made for specific loans, but the entire allowance is available for 
any loan that, in management’s judgment, should be charged-off.  Loan losses are charged against the allowance 
when management believes the uncollectibility of a loan balance is confirmed.  The allowance consists of specific 
and general components.  The specific component relates to loans that are individually classified as impaired.

Loan impairment is reported when full payment under the loan terms is not expected.  Impairment is evaluated in 
total for smaller-balance loans of similar nature, such as residential mortgage and consumer loans, and on an 
individual loan basis for other loans.  If a loan is determined to be impaired, a portion of the allowance is allocated 
so that the loan is reported, net, at the present value of estimated future cash flows using the loan’s effective interest
rate or at the fair value of collateral if repayment is expected solely from the collateral.  Loans are evaluated for 
impairment when payments are delayed, typically 90 days or more, or when it is probable, in the judgment of 
management, that all principal and interest amounts will not be collected according to the original terms of the loan.

Consumer loans are typically charged-off no later than 120 days past due.  Real estate mortgage loans in the process 
of collection are charged-off on or before they become 365 days past due.  Commercial loans are charged-off 
promptly upon the determination that all or a portion of any loan balance is uncollectible.  In all cases, loans are 
placed on nonaccrual status or charged-off at an earlier date if collection of principal or interest is considered 
doubtful.

Under certain circumstances, the Bank may provide borrowers relief through loan restructurings.  A restructuring of 
debt constitutes a troubled debt restructuring (TDR) if the Bank, for economic or legal reasons related to the 
borrower’s financial difficulties, grants a concession to the borrower that it would not otherwise consider.  
Concessions may include reduction of interest rates, extension of maturity dates, forgiveness of principal or interest 
due, or acceptance of other assets in full or partial satisfaction of the debt.  TDR loans typically present an elevated 
level of credit risk as the borrowers are not able to perform according to the original contractual terms.  Loans that 
are reported as TDRs are considered impaired and measured for impairment, as previously described.  TDR loans 
that have performed as agreed under the restructured terms for a period of 12 months or longer may cease to be 
reported as a TDR loan.  However, the loan continues to be individually evaluated for impairment.

Premises and Equipment: Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation 
is computed principally using straight line or accelerated methods over their estimated useful lives. The estimated 
useful lives are 10 to 40 years for buildings and improvements and 3 to 10 years for furniture and equipment.  These 
assets are reviewed for impairment when events indicate their carrying amount may not be recoverable from future 
undiscounted cash flows.  Maintenance, repairs and minor alterations are charged to current operations as 
expenditures occur.  Major improvements are capitalized.  Land is carried at cost.

Mortgage Servicing Rights: Mortgage servicing rights, included in other assets, represent the allocated value of 
mortgage servicing rights retained on loans sold.  Mortgage servicing rights are expensed in proportion to, and over 
the period of, estimated net servicing revenues.

Impairment is evaluated based on the fair value of the rights, using groupings of the underlying loans as to interest 
rates and then, secondarily, as to geographic and prepayment characteristics.  Any impairment of a grouping is 
reported as a valuation allowance.
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.
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NOTE A – NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Transfers of Financial Assets: Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales, when control over the assets 
has been surrendered.  Control over transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when (1) the assets have been 
isolated from the Bank, (2) the transferee obtains the right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage 
of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred assets, and (3) the Bank does not maintain effective control over 
the transferred assets through an agreement to repurchase them before their maturity.

The transfer of a participating interest in a financial asset must have all of the following characteristics: (1) from the 
date of transfer, it must represent a proportionate ownership interest in the financial asset, (2) from the date of 
transfer, all cash flows received, except cash flows allocated as compensation for servicing or other services 
performed, must be divided proportionately among participating interest holders in the amount equal to their share 
ownership, (3) the rights of each participating interest holder must have the same priority, and (4) no party has the 
right to pledge or change the entire financial asset unless all participating interest holders agree to do so.

Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance:  The Company has purchased life insurance policies on certain key 
executives.  Company owned life insurance is recorded at its net cash surrender value, or the amount that can be 
realized.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets: Goodwill results from business acquisitions and represents the excess of 
the purchase price over the fair value of acquired tangible assets and liabilities and identifiable intangible assets.  
Goodwill is assessed at least annually for impairment and any such impairment is recognized in the period 
identified. Impairment exists when a reporting unit’s carrying value of goodwill exceeds its fair value, which is 
determined through a two-step impairment test. Step 1 includes the determination of the carrying value of the single 
reporting unit, including the existing goodwill and intangible assets, and estimating the fair value of the reporting 
unit.  If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, a second step to the impairment test is 
required.

The Company’s most recent annual impairment analysis as of November 30, 2013, indicated that the Step 2 analysis 
was not required.

Intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives to their estimated residual 
values. Goodwill is the only intangible asset with an indefinite life on the Company’s balance sheet. Other 
intangible assets consist of core deposit intangible assets arising from past acquisitions.  They are initially measured 
at fair value and then amortized on an accelerated method over their estimated useful lives, which is 10 years.

Other Real Estate Owned: Other real estate owned was $1,818,000 and $1,633,000 at December 31, 2013 and 
2012, respectively, and is included in other assets.  Other real estate owned is comprised of properties acquired 
through a foreclosure proceeding or acceptance of a deed in lieu of foreclosure.  These properties are initially 
recorded at fair value less estimated cost to sell at the date of foreclosure, establishing a new cost basis.  After 
foreclosure, valuations are periodically performed by management and other real estate owned is carried at the lower 
of carrying amount or fair value less estimated cost to sell.  Expenses, gains and losses on disposition, and 
reductions in carrying value are reported as non-interest expense.

Stock Based Compensation: The Company has adopted the requirements of “share-based payment transactions”, 
using the modified prospective transition method.  Under this method, the Company recognizes compensation cost 
for stock based compensation for all new or modified grants. 

See Note M regarding the various assumptions used in computing the compensation expense.

Advertising Costs: Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.
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NOTE A – NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income Taxes:  The income tax provision is the total of the current year income tax due or refundable and the 
change in deferred tax assets and liabilities.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the expected future tax amounts 
for the temporary differences between carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities, computed using 
enacted tax rates.  A valuation allowance, if needed, reduces deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be 
realized.  Benefits from tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return are not recognized if the 
likelihood that the tax position would be sustained upon examination by a taxing authority is considered to be 50% 
or less.  Any interest and penalties resulting from the filing of the income tax returns is included in the provision for 
income taxes.

Cash Flow Definition:  For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, the Company considers cash and 
due from banks as cash and cash equivalents.  The Company reports net cash flows for customer loan and deposit 
transactions and short term borrowings with a maturity of 90 days or less.

Earnings and Dividends Per Common Share: Basic earnings per common share is based on net income divided 
by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  ESOP shares are considered 
outstanding for this calculation unless unearned.  Diluted earnings per common share reflects the dilutive effect of 
any additional potential common shares issuable under stock options.  Earnings and dividends per share are restated 
for all stock splits and stock dividends through the date of issuance of the financial statements.

Comprehensive Income: Comprehensive income consists of net income and other comprehensive income or loss.  
Other comprehensive income or loss includes the net change in unrealized gains and losses on securities available 
for sale and the changes in the funded status of the pension plan, each net of tax, which are also recognized as a 
separate component of shareholders’ equity.

Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP):  The cost of shares issued to the ESOP but not yet allocated to 
participants is shown as a reduction to shareholders’ equity.  Compensation expense is based on the market price of 
shares as they are committed to be released to participants’ accounts.  Dividends on allocated ESOP shares reduce 
retained earnings; dividends on unearned ESOP shares reduce debt and accrued interest.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments: Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant market 
information and other assumptions, as more fully disclosed in Note S.  Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and 
matters of significant judgment regarding interest rates, credit risk, prepayments and other factors, especially in the 
absence of broad markets for particular items.  Changes in assumptions or in market conditions could significantly 
affect such estimates.  

Concentrations of Credit Risk: The Company grants commercial, real estate and installment loans to customers 
mainly in southwest Michigan.  Commercial loans include loans collateralized by commercial real estate, business 
assets and agricultural loans collateralized by crops and farm equipment. Commercial loans make up approximately 
75% of the loan portfolio at December 31, 2013 (74% at December 31, 2012) and such loans are expected to be 
repaid from cash flow from operations of businesses.  Residential mortgage loans make up approximately 23% of 
the loan portfolio at December 31, 2013 (24% at December 31, 2012) and are collateralized by mortgages on 
residential real estate.  Consumer loans make up approximately 2% of the loan portfolio at December 31, 2013 (2% 
at December 31, 2012) and are primarily collateralized by consumer assets.

Operating Segments:  While the chief decision-makers monitor the revenue streams of the various products and 
services, operations are managed and financial performance is evaluated on a Company wide basis.  Operating 
segments are aggregated into one as operating results for all segments are similar.  Accordingly, all of the financial 
service operations are considered by management to be aggregated in one reportable operating segment: commercial 
banking.
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

NOTE A – NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk: Financial instruments include off-balance-sheet credit 
instruments, such as commitments to make loans and standby letters of credit issued to meet customer needs.  The 
face amount for these items represents the exposure to loss before considering customer collateral or ability to repay.  
Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded.  Commitments may include interest rates determined 
prior to funding the loan (rate lock commitments).  Rate lock commitments on loans intended to be sold are 
considered to be derivatives.  Such commitments were not material at December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Cash Balances: The Company maintains deposits with other correspondent banks.  Certain of these deposits may 
exceed FDIC insured limits.

Loss Contingencies: Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of 
business, are recorded as liabilities when the likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or range of loss can be 
reasonably estimated.  Management does not believe there are any such matters outstanding as of December 31, 
2013 that will have a material future adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Subsequent Events:  Management evaluated subsequent events through the date the consolidated financial 
statements were available to be issued.  Events or transactions occurring after December 31, 2013, but prior to when 
the consolidated financial statements were issued, that provided additional evidence about conditions that existed at 
December 31, 2013, have been recognized in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2013.  Events or transactions that provided evidence about conditions that did not exist at December 31, 2013, but 
arose before the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued, have not been recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Reclassifications: Certain items in the 2012 and 2011 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to 
conform to the current year presentation.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards: In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2013-02, “Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of Amounts 
Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income.”  The ASU requires disclosures related to 
reclassifications out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (AOCI) by component.  The new authoritative 
guidance was effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2012.  The adoption of ASU 
2013-02 as of January 1, 2013 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial condition or 
results of operations.

In January 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-04, “Receivables-Troubled Debt Restructurings by Creditors” to 
clarify when an in substance repossession or foreclosure occurs.  That is, when a creditor should be considered to 
have received physical possession of residential real estate property collateralizing a consumer mortgage loan such 
that the receivable should be derecognized and the real estate property recognized.  The amendments in ASU 2014-
04 apply to all creditors who obtain physical possession of residential real estate property collateralizing a consumer 
mortgage loan in satisfaction of a receivable and are effective for annual and interim periods beginning after 
December 15, 2014.  The Company has not yet determined the financial statement impact of the requirements of 
ASU 2014-04.
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NOTE B – BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of basic and diluted earnings per common share for the years 
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 is presented below:

2013 2012 2011
Basic Earnings Per Common Share

Net income (in thousands) $ 4,499 $ 4,350 $ 3,402

Weighted average common shares outstanding 2,391,825 2,374,831 2,350,180

Less: Unallocated ESOP shares (4,082) (11,839) (20,733)

Weighted average common shares outstanding for basic
earnings per common share 2,387,743 2,362,992 2,329,447

Basic earnings per common share $ 1.88 $ 1.84 $ 1.46

Diluted Earnings Per Common Share

Net income (in thousands) $ 4,499 $ 4,350 $ 3,402

Weighted average common shares outstanding for basic
earnings per common share 2,387,743 2,362,992 2,329,447

Add: Dilutive effects of assumed exercises of stock options 7,006 6,298 4,378

Average shares and dilutive potential 
of common shares outstanding 2,394,749 2,369,290 2,333,825

Diluted earnings per common share $ 1.88 $ 1.84 $ 1.46

Stock options for 168,996, 185,426 and 199,961 shares of common stock were not considered in computing diluted 
earnings per share for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, because they were anti-dilutive.
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NOTE C - SECURITIES

Year-end investment securities were as follows (in thousands):

Available for Sale, December 31, 2013
Amortized 

Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
Fair

Value
Federal agencies $ 32,053 $ 4 $ (423) $ 31,634
U.S. Treasuries 4,002 - (30) 3,972
States and political subdivisions 35,856 592 (610) 35,838
Mortgage-backed securities 4,254 18 (3) 4,269
Corporate security 302 - (10) 292
Total $ 76,467 $ 614 $ (1,076) $ 76,005

Available for Sale, December 31, 2012
Amortized 

Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
Fair
Value

Federal agencies $ 15,985 $ 45 $ - $ 16,030
U.S. government sponsored entities

and agencies 7,848 54 - 7,902
States and political subdivisions 33,889 1,112 (23) 34,978
Mortgage-backed securities 5,589 26 - 5,615
Total $ 63,311 $ 1,237 $ (23) $ 64,525

Securities with unrealized losses at December 31, 2013 and 2012 that have not been recognized in income are as 
follows (in thousands):

2013 Continued Unrealized
Loss for

Less than 12 Months

Continued Unrealized
Loss for

12 Months or More Total

Description of Securities
Fair

Value
Unrealized

Loss
Fair

Value
Unrealized

Loss
Fair

Value
Unrealized

Loss
$

Federal agencies $ 24,266 $ (423) $ - $ - $ 24,266 $ (423)
U.S. Treasuries 3,972 (30) - - 3,972 (30)
States and political subdivisions 15,513 (590) 760 (20) 16,273 (610)
Mortgage-backed securities 3,217 (3) - - 3,217 (3)
Corporate security 292 (10) - - 292 (10)
Total temporarily impaired $ 47,260 $ (1,056) $ 760 $ (20) $ 48,020 $ (1,076)

2012 Continued Unrealized
Loss for

Less than 12 Months

Continued Unrealized
Loss for

12 Months or More Total

Description of Securities
Fair

Value
Unrealized

Loss
Fair

Value
Unrealized

Loss
Fair

Value
Unrealized

Loss
States and political subdivisions $ 3,492 $ (23) $ - $ - $ 3,492 $ (23)
Total temporarily impaired $ 3,492 $ (23) $ - $ - $ 3,492 $ (23)

Unrealized losses have not been recognized into income as management believes the issuers are of sound credit 
quality, management has no intent to sell the securities, the Company has the ability to hold the securities to 
maturity and the decline in fair value is largely due to changes in market interest rates.  The fair value is expected to 
recover as the bonds approach their maturity date.
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NOTE C – SECURITIES (CONTINUED)

The proceeds from sales of securities and the associated gains are listed below (in thousands):

2013 2012 2011
          Proceeds $ 7,327 $ - $ -
          Gross gains 140 - -

The tax provision related to gross realized gains was $48 for 2013.

Gains on calls of securities were $0, $3,000 and $29,000 for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The amortized cost and fair value of the investment securities portfolio are shown by contractual maturity.  
Contractual maturities of debt securities at year-end 2013 were as follows (in thousands):

Amortized 
Cost

Fair
Value

          Due in one year or less $ 3,150 $ 3,166
          Due from one to five years 40,529 40,665
          Due from five to ten years 23,236 22,667
          Due after ten years 5,298 5,238
          Mortgage-backed securities 4,254 4,269
          Total $ 76,467 $ 76,005

Securities not due at a single maturity date, primarily mortgage-backed securities, are shown separately.  Expected 
maturities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations 
with or without call or prepayment penalties.

Securities with a carrying value of $28,294,000 and $28,234,000, respectively, were pledged as collateral for 
repurchase accounts and for other purposes at year-end 2013 and 2012.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the fair value of securities issued by the State of Michigan and all its political 
subdivisions totaled $24,575,000 and $28,443,000, respectively.  No other securities of any single issuer were 
greater than 10% of shareholders’ equity.  

Investments in the Federal Home Loan Bank of Indianapolis stock totaled $1,701,000 at December 31, 2013 and 
2012 and are included in other assets because such investments are considered restricted.  Such investments are 
recorded at cost and evaluated for impairment. 

At December 31, 2013, the Company had no investment in securities of issuers outside of the United States.

NOTE D – LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES

Loans at year-end were as follows (in thousands):
2013 2012

          Commercial $ 85,464 $ 82,543
          Real estate - commercial 184,092 172,764
          Real estate - construction 17,704 16,802
          Consumer 8,617 8,349
          Real estate mortgage 90,134 89,147

386,011 369,605
          Less allowance for loan losses (5,238) (5,455)
          Loans, net $ 380,773 $ 364,150
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NOTE D – LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES (CONTINUED)

Credit Risk Elements:

Construction loans are underwritten utilizing independent appraisals, sensitivity analysis of absorption, vacancy and 
lease rates and financial analysis of the developers and property owners.  Construction loans are generally based 
upon estimates of costs and value associated with completion of the project.  Construction loans often involve the 
disbursement of funds with repayment substantially dependent on the success of the ultimate project.  These loans 
are closely monitored by on-site inspections and are considered to have higher risks than other real estate loans due 
to their ultimate repayment being sensitive to interest rate changes, general economic conditions and the availability 
of long-term financing.  The Bank typically requires guarantees on these loans.  The Bank’s construction loans are 
secured primarily by properties located in its primary market area.

The Bank originates 1 – 4 family real estate and consumer loans utilizing credit reports to supplement the 
underwriting process.  The Bank’s manual underwriting standards for 1 – 4 family loans are generally in accordance 
with Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation and loan policy manual underwriting guidelines.  Properties 
securing 1 – 4 family real estate loans are appraised by fee appraisers, which are independent of the loan origination 
function and have been approved by management.  The loan-to-value ratios normally do not exceed 80% without 
credit enhancements such as mortgage insurance.  The Bank will lend up to 100% of the lesser of the appraised 
value or purchase price for conventional 1 – 4 family real estate loans, provided private mortgage insurance is 
obtained.  The underwriting standards for consumer loans include a determination of the applicant’s payment history 
on other debts and an assessment of their ability to meet existing obligations and payments on the proposed loan.  To 
monitor and manage loan risk, policies and procedures are developed and modified, as needed by management.  
This activity, coupled with smaller loan amounts that are spread across many individual borrowers, minimizes risk.  
Additionally, market conditions are reviewed by management on a regular basis.  The Bank’s 1 – 4 family real estate 
loans are secured primarily by properties located in its primary market area.

Commercial and agricultural real estate loans are subject to underwriting standards and processes similar to 
commercial and agricultural operating loans, in addition to those unique to real estate loans.  These loans are viewed 
primarily as cash flow loans and secondarily as loans secured by real estate.  Commercial and agricultural real estate 
lending typically involves higher loan principal amounts and the repayment of these loans is generally dependent on 
the successful operation of the property securing the loan or the business conducted on the property securing the 
loan.  Loan to value is generally 75% of the lower of the cost or value of the assets.  Appraisals on properties 
securing these loans are generally performed by fee appraisers approved by the Commercial Loan Committee.
Because payments on commercial and agricultural real estate loans are often dependent on the successful operation 
or management of the properties, repayment of such loans may be subject to adverse conditions in the real estate 
market or the economy.  Management monitors and evaluates commercial and agricultural real estate loans based on 
collateral and risk rating criteria.  The Bank typically requires guarantees on these loans.  The Bank’s commercial 
and agricultural real estate loans are secured primarily by properties located in its primary market area.

Commercial and agricultural operating loans are underwritten based on the Bank’s examination of current and 
projected cash flows to determine the ability of the borrower to repay their obligations as agreed.  This underwriting 
includes the evaluation of cash flows of the borrower, underlying collateral, if applicable, and the borrower’s ability 
to manage its business activities.  The cash flows of borrowers and the collateral securing these loans may fluctuate 
in value after the initial evaluation.  A first priority lien on the general assets of the business normally secures these 
types of loans.  Loan to value limits vary and are dependent upon the nature and type of the underlying collateral 
and the financial strength of the borrower.  Crop and hail insurance is required for most agricultural borrowers.  
Loans are generally guaranteed by the principal(s).  The Bank’s commercial and agricultural operating lending is 
principally in its primary market area.
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NOTE D – LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES (CONTINUED)

The Bank has an internal credit analyst who reviews and validates credit risk on a periodic basis, as well as an 
internal loan review performed throughout the year.  Results of the credit analyst are presented to management.  
Internal loan reviews are presented to management and the Audit Committee.  The credit analysis and loan review 
processes complement and reinforce the risk identification and assessment decisions made by lenders and credit 
personnel, as well as the Bank’s policies and procedures.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, certain directors and executive officers of the Company, including their associates 
and companies in which they are principal owners, were indebted to the Bank. The following is a summary of
activity of loans (in thousands) exceeding $60,000 in the aggregate to these individuals and their associates.  All of 
these loans were made in the ordinary course of business, were made on substantially the same terms, including 
interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable loans with persons not related to the 
Company and did not involve more than the normal risk of collectability or present other unfavorable features.  
None of these loans were in default at December 31, 2013. Other changes include adjustments for loans applicable 
to one reporting period that are excludable from the other reporting period.

2013 2012 2011

          Balance at January 1 $ 17,179 $ 13,542 $ 14,099
          New loans, including renewals 3,474 8,385 11,230
          Repayments (3,557) (4,806) (11,659)
          Other changes, net (3,686) 58 (128)
          Balance at December 31 $ 13,410 $ 17,179 $ 13,542

The unpaid principal balance of mortgage loans serviced for others, which are not included on the consolidated 
balance sheet, was $213,072,000 and $197,238,000 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Activity for capitalized mortgage servicing rights, included in other assets, was as follows (in thousands):

2013 2012 2011

          Balance at January 1 $ 1,243 $ 969 $ 868
          Additions 660 641 412
          Amortized to expense (455) (367) (311)
          Balance at December 31 $ 1,448 $ 1,243 $ 969

No valuation allowance for capitalized mortgage servicing rights was considered necessary at December 31, 2013 or
2012 because the estimated fair value of such rights exceeded the carrying value.

In evaluating the allowance for loan losses, loans are analyzed based on the department originating the loan 
(commercial, mortgage or consumer), which in some instances may be different than how the loans are categorized 
for regulatory reporting purposes. Consequently, loan groupings may vary within the disclosures.
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The following is an analysis of the allowance for loan losses activity by portfolio segment based on impairment 
method as of and for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

December 31, 2013 Commercial 
including 

Commercial 
Real Estate Consumer

Real Estate 
Mortgage 

1st Lien

Real
Estate 

Mortgage 
Junior Lien Total

Balance at January 1 $         4,158 $          57 $        1,105 $           135 $ 5,455
Provision for loan losses 154 26 504 66 750
Loans charged off (772) (50) (590) (85) (1,497)
Recoveries 497 17 15 1 530
Balance at December 31 $         4,037 $          50 $        1,034 $           117 $ 5,238

Ending balance individually 
evaluated for impairment $            448             $           - $           161             $                - $609       

Ending balance collectively 
evaluated for impairment 3,589 50 873 117 4,629

Total $         4,037          $          50           $        1,034          $           117             $ 5,238

December 31, 2012

Balance at January 1 $         4,039 $          68 $        1,155 $           150 $ 5,412
Provision for loan losses 1,038 9 249 54 1,350
Loans charged off (1,084) (40) (341) (82) (1,547)
Recoveries 165 20 42 13 240
Balance at December 31 $         4,158 $          57 $        1,105 $           135 $ 5,455

Ending balance individually 
evaluated for impairment $            534 $             - $           224 $                - $ 758

Ending balance collectively 
evaluated for impairment 3,624 57 881 135 4,697

Total $         4,158 $          57 $        1,105 $           135 $ 5,455

December 31, 2011

Balance at January 1 $         4,239 $          87 $          1,211 $           157 $ 5,694
Provision for loan losses 498 14 433 105 1,050
Loans charged off (875) (71) (498) (117) (1,561)
Recoveries 177 38 9 5 229
Balance at December 31 $         4,039 $          68 $         1,155 $           150 $ 5,412

Ending balance individually 
evaluated for impairment $            744 $             - $            240 $                - $ 984

Ending balance collectively 
evaluated for impairment 3,295 68 915 150 4,428

Total $         4,039 $          68 $         1,155 $           150 $ 5,412
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Commercial loans also include demand deposit loan account charge-offs and recoveries amounting to $226,000 and 
$127,000, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2013; $132,000 and $125,000, respectively, for the year 
ended December 31, 2012; and $167,000 and $72,000, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2011.

The following is a summary of the recorded investment in loans, by portfolio segment and based on impairment 
method, as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

                           

December 31, 2013:

Commercial 
including 

Commercial 
Real Estate Consumer

Real Estate 
Mortgage 

1st Lien

Real
Estate 

Mortgage 
Junior Lien Total

Ending balance individually 
evaluated for impairment $          5,261 $            10 $          2,935 $             66 $     8,272

Ending balance collectively 
evaluated for impairment 294,557 7,607 65,668 9,907 377,739

Ending balance $ 299,818 $ 7,617 $        68,603 $        9,973 $ 386,011

December 31, 2012:
Ending balance individually 
evaluated for impairment $          5,964 $             17 $          2,879 $             129 $ 8,989

Ending balance collectively 
evaluated for impairment 276,539 7,884 64,143 12,050 360,616

Ending balance $ 282,503 $        7,901 $        67,022 $        12,179 $ 369,605

The following tables present loans individually evaluated for impairment by class of loans as of December 31, 2013
and December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

December 31, 2013 Unpaid 
Principal 
Balance

Recorded 
Investment

Allowance for 
Loan Losses 

Allocated

With no related allowance recorded:
          Commercial $ 185 185 $ -
          Real estate - commercial 1,232 1,232 -
          Real estate - construction 52 52 -
          Consumer 10 10 -
          Real estate mortgage 1,272 1,204 -

With an allowance recorded:
          Commercial 886 828 162
          Real estate - commercial 1,461 1,432 109
          Real estate - construction 484 484 11
          Consumer - - -
          Real estate mortgage 2,845 2,845 327

          Total $ 8,427 $               8,272                $ 609
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December 31, 2012
Unpaid 

Principal 
Balance

Recorded 
Investment

Allowance for Loan 
Losses Allocated

With no related allowance recorded:
          Commercial $ 492 $                   492 -
          Real estate - commercial 2,599 2,194 -
          Real estate - construction 80 80 -
          Consumer 16 16 -
          Real estate mortgage 1,835 1,698 -

With an allowance recorded:
          Commercial 482 423 37
          Real estate - commercial 1,590 1,561 122
          Real estate - construction 188 188 161
          Consumer - - -
          Real estate mortgage 2,337 2,337 438

          Total $ 9,619 $                8,989                      758

Information regarding impaired loans at December 31 follows (in thousands):

2013 2012 2011

          Average balance of impaired loans during the year $ 8,630 $ 9,486 $ 10,530

          Cash basis interest income recognized during the year $ 300 $ 252 $ 250

          Interest income recognized during the year $ 309 $ 268 $ 285

The Company’s loan portfolio also includes certain loans that have been modified in a TDR, where economic 
concessions have been granted to borrowers who have experienced or are expected to experience financial 
difficulties.  These concessions typically result from the Company’s loss mitigation activities and could include 
reductions in the interest rate, payment extensions, forgiveness of principal, forbearance or other actions.  

When the Company modifies a loan, management evaluates any possible concession based on the present value of 
expected future cash flows, discounted at the contractual interest rate of the original loan agreement, except when 
the sole source of repayment for the loan is the liquidation of collateral.  In these cases, management uses the current 
fair value of the collateral, less selling costs.  If management determines that the value of the modified loan is less 
than the recorded investment in the loan (net of previous charge-offs and deferred loan fees or costs), impairment is 
recognized through an allowance estimate or a charge-off to the allowance.
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The following table summarizes the number and volume of TDRs the Company has recorded in its loan portfolio as 
of December 31, 2013 and 2012, as well as the number of TDR loans added each year and the amount of specific 
reserves in the allowance for loan losses relating to TDRs (dollars in thousands):

Total Added During the Year

December 31, 2013
Number of 

Loans Amount

Specific 
Reserves 
Allocated

Number of 
Loans Amount

Specific 
Reserves 
Allocated

Commercial 10 $ 734 $ 21 5 $243              $                2
Real estate - commercial 8 1,579 109 1 58 -
Real estate - construction 1 484 11 - - -
Real estate - mortgage 20 2,114 136 5 705 23
Consumer - - - - - -

Total 39 $ 4,911 $ 277 11 $         1,006            $              25             

December 31, 2012

Commercial 6 $ 740 $ 37 1 $              98 $                -
Real estate - commercial 6 1,581 112 1 11 1
Real estate - construction 1 507 10 1 507 10
Real estate - mortgage 17 1,483 117 2 92 30
Consumer - - - - - -

Total 30 $ 4,311 $ 276 5 $            708 $             41

The modification of the terms of loans that resulted in a TDR included one or a combination of a reduction of the 
stated interest rate of the loan or an extension of the maturity date or amortization period.  The post-modified loan 
balance for TDR’s was essentially the same as the pre-modified balance.

The Company has not committed to lend any additional funds to these borrowers.

Of the 11 loans classified as TDRs during 2013, there were three real estate mortgage TDRs totaling $252,000 
which were in default of their modified terms as of December 31, 2013.  No charge off was recorded for these loans 
through December 31, 2013.  The loans had specific reserves of $5,000 as of December 31, 2013.

The following table presents the aging of the recorded investment in past due and nonaccrual loans as of 
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 by class of loans (in thousands):

December 31, 2013 Loans Past Due Accruing Interest

30-59
Days

60-89
Days

Over
90

Days Total

Loans
on Non-
Accrual

Loans Not 
Past Due 

or Non-
Accrual Total

Commercial $ 76 $ 25 $ - $ 101 $          377 $ 84,986 $ 85,464
Real estate - commercial 1,142 - - 1,142 1,232 181,718 184,092
Real estate - construction 8 - - 8 52 17,644 17,704
Consumer 14 3 - 17 10 8,590 8,617
Real estate mortgage 331 26 - 357 2,291 87,486 90,134

Total $ 1,571 $ 54 $ - $ 1,625 $ 3,962 $ 380,424 $ 386,011
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December 31, 2012 Loans Past Due Accruing Interest

30-59
Days

60-89
Days

Over
90

Days Total

Loans
on Non-
Accrual

Loans Not 
Past Due 

or Non-
Accrual Total

Commercial $ 46 $ - $ - $ 46 $      492 $ 82,005 $ 82,543
Real estate - commercial 199 62 - 261 2,189 170,314 172,764
Real estate - construction 10 - 26 36 269 16,497 16,802
Consumer 22 6 7 35 16 8,298 8,349
Real estate mortgage 442 109 - 551 2,417 86,179 89,147

Total $ 719 $ 177 $ 33 $ 929 $ 5,383 $ 363,293 $ 369,605

Credit Quality Indicators:

The Company categorizes loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of borrowers to 
service their debt, such as: current financial information, historical payment experience, credit documentation, 
public information, and current economic trends, among other factors.  The Company analyzes loans individually by 
classifying the loans as to credit risk.  This analysis includes all loans from the commercial loan department.  This 
analysis is performed at least annually.  The Company uses the following definitions for risk ratings:

Pass:  Loans classified as pass have no existing or known potential weaknesses deserving of management’s 
close attention.

Special Mention: Loans classified as special mention have a potential weakness that deserves 
management’s close attention.  If left uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of 
the repayment prospects for the loan or of the Company’s credit position at some future date.

Substandard: Loans classified as substandard are inadequately protected by the current net worth and
paying capacity of the obligor or of the collateral pledged, if any.  Loans so classified have a well-defined 
weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt.  They are characterized by the distinct 
possibility that the Company will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected. 

Doubtful: Loans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as substandard, 
with the added characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of 
currently existing facts, conditions, and values, highly questionable and improbable.

As of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, based on the most recent analysis performed, the risk category of 
loans by class of loans was as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2013
Pass

Special
Mention Substandard Doubtful

Not Risk
Rated Total

Commercial $ 82,278 $ 2,538 $             648 $ - $ - $ 85,464
Real estate - commercial 167,747 12,856 3,432 - 57 184,092
Real estate - construction 12,135 387 715 - 4,467 17,704
Real estate - mortgage 12,292 1,821 1,864 - 74,157 90,134
Consumer 33 - - - 8,584 8,617

Total $ 274,485 $ 17,602 $ 6,659 $ - $ 87,265 $ 386,011



2013 SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. ANNUAL REPORT 41  

SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

NOTE D – LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES (CONTINUED)

December 31, 2012
Pass

Special
Mention Substandard Doubtful

Not Risk
Rated Total

Commercial $ 72,521 $ 8,993 $ 1,029 $ - $ - $ 82,543
Real estate - commercial 156,105 10,755 4,971 - 933 172,764
Real estate - construction 10,572 869 359 - 5,002 16,802
Real estate - mortgage 9,797 2,483 2,533 - 74,334 89,147
Consumer - - - - 8,349 8,349

Total $ 248,995 $ 23,100 $ 8,892 $ - $ 88,618 $ 369,605

NOTE E – PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Premises and equipment, net at December 31 consisted of (in thousands):
2013 2012

          Land $ 2,362 $ 2,362
          Buildings and improvements 17,947 17,025
          Furniture and equipment 8,238 8,628

28,547 28,015
          Less accumulated depreciation (16,181) (15,596)
          Totals $ 12,366 $ 12,419

Depreciation of premises and equipment charged to operations was $859,000, $923,000 and $869,000 in 2013, 2012
and 2011, respectively.

Rent expense under operating leases amounted to $135,000, $110,000 and $50,000 in 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Lease commitments under noncancelable operating equipment leases at December 31, 2013 were as follows (in 
thousands):

2014 $ 107
2015 107
2016 107
2017 27
2018 2
Thereafter 4
Total $ 354

NOTE F – INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Acquired core deposit intangible assets as of December 31 were as follows (in thousands):

2013 2012

          Gross carrying amount $ 3,122 $ 3,122
          Accumulated amortization (2,077) (1,781)
          Unamortized balance $ 1,045 $ 1,341

Amortization of core deposit intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was 
$296,000, $325,000 and $339,000, respectively.

Estimated future amortization of core deposit intangible assets for each of the years subsequent to December 31, 
2013 is as follows (in thousands):

2014 $ 284
2015 272
2016 260
2017 229
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NOTE G – DEPOSITS

The carrying amount of domestic deposits at year-end follows (in thousands):

2013 2012

          Non-interest bearing checking $ 85,670 $ 87,013
          Interest bearing checking 119,045 119,241
          Savings 61,476 55,478
          Money market accounts 92,345 78,953
          Time deposits 91,864 103,485
          Totals $ 450,400 $ 444,170

The carrying amount of time deposits over $100,000 was $36,347,000 and $35,962,000 at December 31, 2013 and 
2012, respectively.  Interest expense on time deposits over $100,000 was $513,000, $584,000 and $898,000 for the 
years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

At December 31, 2013, scheduled maturities of time deposits were as follows for the years ending December 31 (in 
thousands):

          2014 $ 57,961
          2015 18,924
          2016 7,320
          2017 5,757
          2018 1,902
          Total $ 91,864

Related party deposits were $19,869,000 and $17,781,000 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

NOTE H – OTHER BORROWINGS

Other borrowings at December 31, 2012 consisted of $1,039,000 of advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank 
(FHLB) of Indianapolis.  These advances required payments through December 31, 2013 with fixed interest rates 
ranging from 4.29% to 4.57%, with a weighted average rate of 4.30%.   All advances were fully repaid prior to 
December 31, 2013.

NOTE I – SECURITIES SOLD UNDER AGREEMENTS TO REPURCHASE AND OVERNIGHT BORROWINGS

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase (repurchase agreements) are direct obligations and are secured by 
securities held in safekeeping at a correspondent bank.  Repurchase agreements are offered primarily to certain large 
deposit customers as deposit equivalent investments.  Information relating to securities sold under agreements to 
repurchase is as follows (in thousands):

2013 2012
At December 31:

Outstanding balance $ 18,479 $ 16,134
Average interest rate 0.20% 0.20%

Daily average for the year:
Outstanding balance $ 17,399 $ 17,026
Average interest rate 0.21% 0.22%

Maximum outstanding at any month end $ 20,764 $ 18,439

At December 31, 2013, the Bank had a $3,000,000 line of credit arrangement available to purchase federal funds,
with no outstanding borrowings.  
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NOTE J – SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES AND TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES

In March 2004, Southern Michigan Bancorp Capital Trust I, a trust formed by the Company, closed a pooled private 
offering of 5,000 trust preferred securities with a liquidation amount of $1,000 per security.  The Company issued 
$5,155,000 of subordinated debentures to the trust in exchange for ownership of all of the common securities of the 
trust and the proceeds of the preferred securities sold by the trust.  The Company is not considered the primary 
beneficiary of this trust, therefore the trust is not consolidated in the Company’s financial statements, but rather the 
subordinated debentures are shown as a liability.  The Company may redeem the subordinated debentures, subject to 
the receipt by the Company of the proper approval of the Federal Reserve, if such approval is required under 
applicable capital guidelines or policies of the Federal Reserve.  The subordinated debentures may be redeemed on 
January 7, April 7, July 7 and October 7 of each year either in whole or in integrals of $1,000 at 100% of the 
principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest.  The subordinated debentures mature on April 6, 2034.  The 
subordinated debentures are also redeemable in whole, but not in part, from time to time upon the occurrence of 
specific events defined within the trust indenture.  The Company has the option to defer interest payments on the 
subordinated debentures from time to time for a period not to exceed 20 consecutive quarters.

The $5,000,000 in trust preferred securities may be included in Tier I capital (with certain limitations applicable) 
under current regulatory guidelines and interpretations. The trust preferred securities and subordinated debentures 
have a variable rate of interest equal to the three month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 2.75%.  The 
rate at December 31, 2013 was 2.99%.  Interest expense related to the subordinated debentures amounted to 
$152,000 in 2013, $163,000 in 2012, and $156,000 in 2011. The Company’s investment in the common stock of the 
trust is $155,000 and is included in other assets.

NOTE K – INCOME TAXES

Income tax provision (credit) consists of the following (in thousands):

2013 2012 2011

          Current $ 1,778 $ 1,552 $ 809
          Deferred (51) (122) 150
          Total income tax provision $ 1,727 $ 1,430 $ 959

The deferred income tax provision (credit) consists of the tax effect of temporary differences, including the impact 
in 2013 of utilization of $350,000 of alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards.

Income tax provision calculated at the statutory federal income tax rate of 34% differs from actual income tax 
provision as follows (in thousands):

2013 2012 2011

Income tax at statutory rate $ 2,117 $ 1,965 $ 1,483
Tax-exempt interest income, net (348) (358) (311)
Earnings on life insurance assets (114) (113) (118)
Low income housing partnership tax credits - (127) (127)
Other items, net 72 63 32
Totals $ 1,727 $ 1,430 $ 959
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following at December 31 (in thousands):

2013 2012
Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for loan losses $ 1,538 $ 1,425
Deferred compensation and supplemental retirement liability 905 835
Pension liability 213 259
Nonaccrual loan interest 225 292
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards - 350
Stock based compensation 206 189
Net unrealized loss on available for sale securities 157 -
Other 325 209
Total deferred tax assets 3,569 3,559

Deferred tax liabilities:
Mortgage servicing rights (492) (423)
Goodwill (211) (211)
Purchase accounting adjustments (430) (533)
Net unrealized gain on available for sale securities - (413)
Depreciation (245) (310)
Other (112) (165)
Total deferred tax liabilities (1,490) (2,055)
Net deferred tax assets, included in other assets $ 2,079 $ 1,504

The Company and its subsidiaries file U.S. federal and certain state tax returns.  In general, tax returns are no longer 
subject to tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2010. A federal examination of the Company’s 2009 
tax year concluded in 2012.  The results of the examination did not materially impact the Company’s financial 
position.

The Company believes that it had no significant uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.
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NOTE L – BENEFIT PLANS

Defined Benefit Pension Plan:

Effective December 31, 2009, The Southern Michigan Bank & Trust Pension Plan was fully frozen. The Company 
uses a December 31 measurement date for the plan.

Information about the pension plan is as follows (in thousands):
2013 2012

Change in projected benefit obligation:
Beginning benefit obligation $ (2,358) $ (2,096)
Interest cost (98) (107)
Actuarial loss (52) (244)
Benefits paid 599 89
Ending benefit obligation (1,909) (2,358)

Change in plan assets, at fair value:
Beginning plan assets 1,704 1,449
Actual return 55 57
Employer contributions 24 313
Benefits paid (599) (89)
Plan expenses paid (26) (26)
Ending plan assets 1,158 1,704

Net amount recognized in accrued expenses and other liabilities–funded status $ (751) $ (654)

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plan was $1,909,000 and $2,358,000 at 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The components of pension expense and related actuarial assumptions were as follows (in thousands):

2013 2012 2011
Components of net periodic benefit cost:

Service cost, including plan expenses $ 26 $ 26 $ 26
Interest cost 98 107 124
Expected return on plan assets (101) (99) (105)
Recognized net actuarial loss 49 24 17
Settlement adjustment 188 - 92
Net periodic benefit cost $ 260 $ 58 $ 154

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, net actuarial losses of $625,000 and $763,000, respectively, have not yet been 
recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost.  The estimated net loss that will be amortized from 
accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost for 2014 is $35,000.

Weighted average assumptions for determining projected benefit obligation and net periodic benefit cost were as 
follows:

2013 2012 2011
Discount rate on benefit obligation 4.0% 4.0% 5.0%
Long-term expected rate of return on plan assets 6.0% 6.0% 7.0%
Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A N/A
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Target
Allocation

2014

Percentage
of Plan
Assets

at Year-end

Weighted
Average
Expected

Long-Term
Rate of

Return - 2013          Asset Category 2013 2012

Equity securities 0% 0% 0% 0%
Debt securities 0% 0% 0% 0%
Cash and time certificates 100% 100% 100% .20%

100% 100% 100% .20%

The pension plan assets are managed by the Bank's Trust Department.  A written investment policy which we 
believe meets the standards of the prudent investor rule is followed.  In addition, Main Street Advisors, of Chicago, 
has provided investment advisory services, guidance and expertise.

Investments or debt obligations of Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. are not allowed as holdings within the plan.

The plan’s investment objective at December 31, 2013 is primarily fixed income investments with a target of 90%
time certificates and 10% cash.  The allocation percentages may be reduced or increased depending upon market
conditions and interest rates.  Due to the plan being frozen, the investment allocations have been established with 
shorter term objectives.

The investments in the plan are managed for the benefit of the participants.  They are structured to meet the cash 
flow necessary to pay retiring employees.  ERISA guidelines for diversification of the investments are followed in 
all material respects and giving due consideration to the plan’s frozen status.

Fair Value of Plan Assets:  Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset in the principal or 
most advantageous market for the asset in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement 
date. 

The Company uses the following methods and significant assumptions to estimate the fair value of each type of 
financial instrument:

Debt Securities:  The fair values for investment securities are determined by quoted market prices, if available 
(Level 1). For securities where quoted prices are not available, fair values are calculated based on market prices of 
similar securities (Level 2). For securities where quoted prices or market prices of similar securities are not 
available, fair values are calculated using discounted cash flows or other market indicators (Level 3). Discounted 
cash flows are calculated using spread to swap and LIBOR curves that are updated to incorporate loss severities, 
volatility, credit spread and optionality. During times when trading is more liquid, broker quotes are used (if 
available) to validate the model. Rating agency and industry research reports as well as defaults and deferrals on 
individual securities are reviewed and incorporated into the calculations.

The fair value of plan assets at December 31, 2013 amounted to $1,158,000 consisting of cash and time certificates 
with fair value measured using quoted prices in active markets (Level 1).  There were no plan assets measured at fair 
value using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as of or for the years ended December 31, 2013 or 2012.

The Company expects to contribute $200,000 to the plan in 2014.
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At December 31, 2013, estimated future benefit payments from the plan were as follows for the years ending 
December 31 (in thousands):

          2014 $ 31
          2015 31
          2016 41
          2017 82
          2018 115
          2019 – 2023 749

Employee Stock Ownership Plan: The Company has an employee stock ownership plan (ESOP) for substantially 
all full-time employees.  The Plan includes a 401(k) provision with the Company’s matching contribution provided 
in Company stock.  The Board of Directors determines the Company’s contribution level annually.  Assets of the 
plan are held in trust by the Bank and administrative costs of the plan are borne by the Company.  Expense charged 
to operations for contributions to the plan totaled $239,000, $242,000 and $253,000 in 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.  

Shares held by the ESOP at year-end are as follows:
2013 2012

          Allocated shares 126,931 125,125
          Unallocated shares 2,692 6,195

          Total ESOP shares 129,623 131,320

The fair value of allocated shares held by the ESOP is $2,247,000 and $2,065,000 at December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.  Upon distribution of shares to a participant, the participant has the right to require the Company to 
purchase shares at their fair value in accordance with terms and conditions of the plan.  As such, these shares are not 
classified in shareholders’ equity as permanent equity.  In 2008, the ESOP obtained a loan for $609,000 to purchase 
28,500 shares.  The balance of the loan was $35,000 at December 31, 2012 and was fully repaid during 2013.

Deferred Compensation Plan:  Directors and certain officers of the Bank may defer a portion of their director fees 
or compensation in a non-qualified deferred compensation plan. An account is established for each participant in 
the plan and credited with the participant’s annual deferred compensation plus interest based on the stated rate 
determined annually. Upon retirement, participants receive the balance in their account over 15 years. Participants 
also continue to earn interest during retirement based on their remaining account balance. Participants are 
immediately vested in their account balances. The plan is intended to be funded by certain bank-owned life 
insurance contracts. The interest rate paid on deferred compensation balances as of December 31, 2013 ranged from 
4.01% to 6.82%.  There were no new participants in the plan during 2013. Deferred compensation expense was 
$210,000, $219,000 and $232,000 in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  The liability for deferred compensation 
benefits was $2,214,000 and $2,098,000 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and is included in accrued 
expenses and other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Supplemental Retirement Plans: The Bank also maintains a supplemental retirement plan (SERP) to provide 
annual payments to certain current and former executives subsequent to their retirement.  Benefits under the SERP
were frozen effective December 31, 2008.  Expense associated with the SERP totaled $14,000, $14,000 and $15,000 
in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  Liabilities associated with the SERP totaled $167,000 and $187,000 at 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  

In December 2011, the Board of Directors approved the Defined Contribution Supplemental Executive Retirement 
Plan (2011 SERP), which is intended to provide select executive officers with a retirement benefit that is 
competitive with industry practices for bank executives when combined with the executive’s other employer-funded 
retirement benefits.  In contrast to the frozen SERP, the 2011 SERP is a defined contribution arrangement which 
gives the Bank the discretion to make a specific annual nonqualified deferred compensation contribution to the 
account of participating executives.  Whether an annual deferred compensation contribution will be made to the 
account balance of a participating executive, as well as the amount of the contribution, is at the discretion of the 
Bank's Board of Directors.  The contribution that will be made by the Bank to the account of each executive is 
determined based on a percentage of base salary.  Participants are generally entitled to receive payment of the 
benefit in their account in 120 equal monthly installments commencing at age 65.  The Company’s contributions to 
the 2011 SERP amounted to $102,000 in 2013, $100,000 in 2012 and $70,000 in 2011. Liabilities associated with 
the 2011 SERP totaled $280,000 and $172,000 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

NOTE M – STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has stock based compensation plans as described below.  Total compensation cost charged against 
income for those plans was $213,000, $203,000 and $168,000 in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 

On June 6, 2005, shareholders of the Company approved the Stock Incentive Plan of 2005 to advance the interest of 
the Company and its shareholders by affording to directors, officers and other employees of the Company an 
opportunity for increased stock ownership.  The plan permits the grant and award of stock options, stock 
appreciation rights, restricted stock and stock awards.  A maximum of 300,000 shares of common stock are 
available under the plan.  The plan will be terminated June 5, 2015 or earlier if determined by the Board of 
Directors.  At December 31, 2013, 48,037 shares were available for issuance under the plan.

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option valuation model 
that uses the weighted average assumptions noted in the following table.  The expected volatility and life 
assumptions are based on historical experience.  The interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve and the 
dividend yield assumption is based on the Company’s history and expected dividend payouts.

2013 2012 2011

Risk-free interest rate 0.27% 0.26% 0.33%
Expected option life 8 years 8 years 8 years
Expected stock price volatility 23.58% 22.84% 23.40%
Dividend yield 2.82% 2.93% 2.99%

Weighted-average fair value of options granted during year $2.51 $1.59 $1.86
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A summary of the activity in the plans for 2013 follows:  

Stock Options

Shares
Subject

to
Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

Outstanding at beginning of year 220,451 $ 20.74
Granted 7,725 16.50
Exercised (25,330) 11.38
Forfeited (10,500) 21.73
Outstanding at end of year 192,346 $ 20.75 3.0 years $ 127,000

Exercisable at year-end 177,346 $ 22.42 2.5 years $ 69,000

2013 2012 2011

Intrinsic value of options exercised $155,000 $4,000 -
Cash received from option exercise 288,000 6,000 -
Tax benefit realized from option exercises - - -

As of December 31, 2013, there was $10,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock 
options granted under the plans.  The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 0.50 years.

Restricted Stock – Restricted shares may be issued under the 2005 plan described above.  Compensation expense is 
recognized over the vesting period of the shares based on the market value of the shares on the issue date.  The total 
fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $265,000, $157,000 and 
$91,000, respectively.  As of December 31, 2013, there was $468,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost 
related to unvested shares granted under the plan.  The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average 
period of 2.8 years.  

A summary of activity for restricted stock for 2013 follows:

Shares

Weighted
Average
Grant

Date Fair
Value

Nonvested at January 1, 2013 46,113 $ 11.19
Granted 17,875 16.50
Vested (15,632) 16.31
Forfeited (920) 13.53
Nonvested at December 31, 2013 47,436 $ 13.04
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NOTE N – COMMITMENTS

There are various commitments which arise in the normal course of business, such as commitments under 
commercial letters of credit, standby letters of credit and commitments to extend credit.  These arrangements have 
credit risk essentially the same as that involved in extending loans to customers and are subject to the Bank’s normal 
credit policies.  Collateral generally consists of receivables, inventory and equipment and is obtained based on 
management’s credit assessment of the customer.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had no commitments under commercial letters of credit used to 
facilitate customers’ trade transactions.

Under standby letter of credit agreements, the Company agrees to honor certain commitments in the event that its 
customers are unable to do so.  At December 31, 2013 and 2012, commitments under outstanding standby letters of 
credit were $2,282,000 and $1,767,000, respectively.

Loan commitments outstanding to extend credit are detailed below (in thousands):

2013 2012
Fixed rate $ 5,026 $ 3,734
Variable rate 90,590 75,613
Totals $ 95,616 $ 79,347

The fixed rate commitments have stated interest rates ranging from 1.25% to 15.00%. The terms of the above 
commitments range from 1 to 181 months.

Management does not anticipate any losses as a result of the above related transactions; however, the above amount 
represents the maximum exposure to credit loss for loan commitments and commercial and standby letters of credit.

Certain executives of the Bank have employment contracts which have change of control clauses.  The employment 
contracts provide for the payment of 2.99 times the officer's base salary and bonus if the officer is terminated in the 
event of a change of control.

NOTE O – ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) amounted to ($717,000) at December 31, 2013 and $297,000 at 
December 31, 2012 consisting of the following (in thousands):

2013 2012
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities, net of

income taxes of $157 in 2013 and $413 in 2012 $ (305) $ 801
Pension liability, net of income taxes of $213 in 2013 and $259 in 2012 (412) (504)

Total $ (717) $ 297

NOTE P – RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFERS FROM SUBSIDIARIES

Capital guidelines adopted by federal and state regulatory agencies and restrictions imposed by law limit the amount 
of cash dividends the Bank can pay to the Company.  At December 31, 2013, using the most restrictive of these 
conditions, the aggregate cash dividends that the Bank could pay the Company without prior regulatory approval 
was approximately $12.7 million.
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NOTE Q – SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. (PARENT COMPANY ONLY) FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Condensed financial statements of Southern Michigan Bancorp, Inc. follow (in thousands):

Balance Sheets December 31,
2013 2012

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 409 $ 218
Investment in subsidiary bank 62,306 60,053
Investment in non banking subsidiary 185 186
Premises and equipment, net 782 813
Other assets 906 910
Total Assets $ 64,588 $ 62,180

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Dividends payable $ 311 $ 285
Other liabilities 48 40
Subordinated debentures 5,155 5,155
Common stock subject to repurchase obligation in ESOP 2,247 2,065
Shareholders’ equity 56,827 54,635
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 64,588 $ 62,180

Statements of Income Year ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Dividends from subsidiary bank $ 1,461 $ 2,254 $ 1,437
Interest income 1 7 16
Interest expense (152) (228) (266)
Rental income from subsidiary bank 137 137 137
Other expenses (332) (344) (310)

1,115 1,826 1,014
Federal income tax credit (118) (146) (144)

1,233 1,972 1,158
Equity in net income, less dividends received from:

Subsidiary bank 3,267 2,380 2,245
Non-banking subsidiary (1) (2) (1)

Net Income $ 4,499 $ 4,350 $ 3,402
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NOTE Q – SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. (PARENT COMPANY ONLY) FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
(CONTINUED)

Statements of Cash Flows Year ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Operating Activities

Net income $ 4,499 $ 4,350 $ 3,402
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

from operating activities:
Equity in net income, less dividends received from:

Subsidiary bank (3,267) (2,380) (2,245)
Non-banking subsidiary 1 2 1

Stock option and restricted stock grant compensation expense 213 203 168
Depreciation of premises and equipment 31 31 32
Net change in obligation under ESOP 35 134 128
Other, net 12 (138) (84)
Net cash from operating activities 1,524 2,202 1,402

Financing Activities 
Repayments of other borrowings - (1,634) (1,211)
Cash dividends paid (1,173) (760) (470)
Stock options exercised 288 6 -
Repurchase of common stock (448) - -

Net cash from financing activities (1,333) (2,388) (1,681)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 191 (186) (279)
Beginning cash and cash equivalents 218 404 683

Ending cash and cash equivalents $ 409 $ 218 $ 404

NOTE R – SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES

The following supplemental cash flow disclosures are provided for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 
2011 (in thousands):

2013 2012 2011
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest $ 2,168 $ 2,840 $ 3,791
Income taxes 1,920 1,135 590

Non-cash operating activities:
Change in deferred income taxes on net unrealized gain

          on available for sale securities (570) (52) 417
Change in deferred income taxes on pension liability 46 (89) (35)
Change in pension liability (138) 261 106

Non-cash investing activities:
Change in unrealized gain on available for sale securities (1,676) (154) 1,227
Transfers from loans to other real estate owned 1,930 2,069 892
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NOTE S – FAIR VALUE INFORMATION

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating fair values for financial 
instruments, as well as an indication of where the instrument falls within the fair value hierarchy, which is described 
in greater detail in Note T.

Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet approximates fair value
resulting in a level 1 classification.

Securities available for sale: Fair values for securities available for sale are based on quoted market prices, 
where available. For all other securities, the Company obtains fair value measurements from an independent 
pricing service.  The fair value measurements consider observable data that may include dealer quotes, market 
spreads, cash flows, the U.S. Treasury yield curve, live trading levels, trade execution data, market consensus 
prepayment speeds, credit information, and the bond’s terms and conditions, among other things. Securities are 
classified as either level 1, 2 or 3.  See Footnote T for the hierarchy level breakdown.

Loans, net: For variable-rate loans that reprice frequently and with no significant change in credit risk, fair 
values are based on carrying values resulting in a level 3 classification.  The fair values for other loans are 
estimated using discounted cash flows analyses, using interest rates currently being offered for loans with 
similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality resulting in a level 3 classification.  The allowance for loan 
losses is considered to be a reasonable estimate of discount for credit quality concerns.

Loans held for sale: The fair value of loans held for sale is estimated based upon binding contracts and quotes 
from third party investors resulting in a level 2 classification.

Accrued interest receivable: The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet approximates fair value.

Off-balance-sheet financial instruments: The estimated fair value of off-balance-sheet financial instruments 
is based on current fees or costs that would be charged to enter or terminate the arrangements.  The estimated 
fair value is not considered to be significant for this presentation.

Deposits: The fair values disclosed for demand deposits (e.g., interest and non-interest checking, passbook 
savings, and certain types of money market accounts) are, by definition, equal to the amount payable on demand 
at the reporting date (i.e., their carrying amounts) resulting in a level 2 classification.  Fair values for fixed-rate 
certificates of deposit are estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation that applies interest rates currently 
being offered on certificates to a schedule of expected monthly maturities on time deposits resulting in a level 2 
classification.

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, overnight borrowings and federal funds sold:  The 
carrying amount reported in the balance sheet approximates fair value resulting in a level 2 classification.

Other borrowings: The fair value of other borrowings is estimated using discounted cash flows analysis based 
on the current incremental borrowing rate for similar types of borrowing arrangements resulting in a level 2 
classification.

Subordinated debentures:  The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet approximates fair value of the 
variable-rate subordinated debentures. The fair value is estimated using discounted cash flow analyses based on 
the current borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements resulting in a level 3 classification.

Accrued interest payable:  The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet approximates fair value.
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While these estimates of fair value are based on management’s judgment of appropriate factors, there is no 
assurance that if the Company had disposed of such items at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the estimated fair values 
would have been achieved.  Market values may differ depending on various circumstances not taken into 
consideration in this methodology.  The estimated fair values at December 31, 2013 and 2012 should not necessarily 
be considered to apply at subsequent dates.

In addition, other assets and liabilities that are not defined as financial instruments are not included in the following 
disclosures, such as property and equipment.  Also, non-financial instruments typically not recognized in financial 
statements may have value but are not included in the following disclosures.  These include, among other items, the 
estimated earnings power of core deposit accounts, the trained work force, customer goodwill and similar items.

The estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments at year end are as follows (in thousands):

Fair 2013 2012
Value

Hierarchy
Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents Level 1 $ 32,366 $ 32,366 $ 50,334 $ 50,334
Federal funds sold Level 1 148 148 276 276
Securities available for sale See Note T 76,005 76,005 64,525 64,525
Loans held for sale Level 3 115 115 1,776 1,776
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses Level 3 380,773 382,570 364,150 368,715
Accrued interest receivable Level 1 2,351 2,351 2,059 2,059

Financial liabilities:
Deposits Level 2 $ (450,400) $ (451,129) $ (444,170) $ (445,371)
Securities sold under agreements to 

repurchase and overnight borrowings Level 1 (18,479) (18,479) (16,134) (16,134)
Other borrowings Level 2 - - (1,039) (1,049)
Subordinated debentures Level 3 (5,155) (5,155) (5,155) (5,155)
Accrued interest payable Level 1 (88) (88) (108) (108)

The preceding table does not include net cash surrender value of life insurance and dividends payable which are also 
considered financial instruments.  The estimated fair value of such items is considered to be their carrying amount.

Southern also has unrecognized financial instruments which relate to commitments to extend credit and standby 
letters of credit, as described in Note N. The contract amount of such instruments is considered to be the fair value.
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NOTE T – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants.  A fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability occurs in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, 
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.  The price in the principal (or most advantageous) market 
used to measure the fair value of the asset or liability shall not be adjusted for transaction costs.  An orderly 
transaction is a transaction that assumes exposure to the market for a period prior to the measurement date to allow 
for marketing activities that are usual and customary for transactions involving such assets and liabilities; it is not a 
forced transaction. Market participants are buyers and sellers in the principal market that are (i) independent, (ii) 
knowledgeable, (iii) able to transact, and (iv) willing to transact.

Fair value must be determined using valuation techniques that are consistent with the market approach, the income 
approach, and/or the cost approach.  The market approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by 
market transactions involving identical or comparable assets and liabilities.  The income approach uses valuation 
techniques to convert future amounts, such as cash flows or earnings, to a single present amount on a discounted 
basis.  The cost approach is based on the amount that currently would be required to replace the service capacity of 
an asset (replacement cost).  Valuation techniques should be consistently applied.  Inputs to valuation techniques 
refer to the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.  Inputs may be 
observable, meaning those that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability 
developed based on market data obtained from independent sources, or unobservable, meaning those that reflect the 
reporting entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or 
liability developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. A fair value hierarchy for valuation 
inputs has been established that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs.  The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

Level 1 Inputs - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity 
has the ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2 Inputs - Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly.  These might include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, 
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted
prices that are observable for the asset or liability (such as interest rates, volatilities, prepayment speeds, credit risks,
etc.), or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 Inputs - Unobservable inputs for determining the fair values of assets or liabilities that reflect an entity’s 
own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities.

A description of the valuation methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value, as well as the general 
classification of such instruments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy, follows.  These valuation methodologies were 
applied to all of the Company’s financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities carried at fair value.

In general, fair value is based upon quoted market prices, where available.  If such quoted market prices are not 
available, fair value is based upon internally developed models that primarily use, as inputs, observable market-
based parameters.  Valuation adjustments may be made to ensure that financial instruments are recorded at fair 
value.  These adjustments may include amounts to reflect counterparty credit quality, the company’s 
creditworthiness, among other things, as well as unobservable parameters.  Any such valuation adjustments are 
applied consistently over time.  The Company’s valuation methodologies may produce a fair value calculation that 
may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. While management believes the 
Company’s valuation methodologies are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of 
different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a 
different estimate of fair value at the reporting date.
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Securities Available for Sale. Securities classified as available for sale are reported at fair value utilizing Level 1, 
Level 2 and Level 3 inputs.  Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets are utilized to determine 
fair value at the measurement date for Level 1 securities. For all other securities, the Company obtains fair value 
measurements from an independent pricing service.  The fair value measurements consider observable data that may 
include dealer quotes, market spreads, the U.S. Treasury yield curve, live trading levels, trade execution data, market 
consensus prepayment speeds, credit information, and the bond’s terms and conditions, among other things.  When 
there are unobservable inputs, such securities are classified as Level 3.

Securities available for sale classified as Level 3 inputs represent non-publicly traded municipal issues with limited 
trading activity from entities within the Company’s market area.  The fair value of these investments was 
determined using Level 3 valuation techniques, as there is no market available to price these investment securities.  
The method used for determining the fair value for these investment securities included a comparison to the fair 
value of other investment securities valued with Level 2 inputs with similar characteristics (credit, time to maturity, 
call structure, etc.) and the interest yield curve for comparable debt investment securities.

Impaired Loans. The Company does not record impaired loans at fair value on a recurring basis.  However, 
periodically, a loan is considered impaired and is reported at the fair value of the underlying collateral, less 
estimated costs to sell, if repayment is expected solely from the collateral or at estimated discounted cash flows if 
the credit is performing.  Impaired loans measured at fair value typically consist of loans on nonaccrual status and 
loans with a portion of the allowance for loan losses allocated specific to the loan.  Some loans may be included in 
both categories whereas other loans may only be included in one category.  Collateral values are estimated using 
level 2 and level 3 inputs, including recent appraisals and customized discounting criteria including discounting of 
appraisals based on age or changes in property or market conditions.  These discounts generally range from 10% to 
55%.  Collateral values are also discounted for estimated selling costs of 10%. Estimated cash flows are discounted 
considering the loan rate and current market rates and generally range from 4% to 11%. Due to the significance of 
the level 3 inputs, impaired loans have been classified as level 3.

Other Real Estate Owned (OREO). The Company values OREO at the fair value of the underlying collateral less 
expected selling costs.  Collateral values are estimated primarily using discounted appraisals and reflect a market 
value approach. Due to the significance of unobservable inputs used in estimating fair value, OREO has been 
classified as level 3.

The following table summarizes financial and nonfinancial assets (there were no financial or nonfinancial liabilities) 
measured at fair value as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, segregated by the level of the valuation inputs within the 
fair value hierarchy utilized to measure fair value (in thousands):

2013
Level 1
Inputs

Level 2
Inputs

Level 3
Inputs

Total
Fair Value

Recurring:
Securities available for sale:

U.S. Treasuries $ 3,972 $ - $ - $ 3,972
Federal agencies 31,634 - - 31,634
States and political subdivisions - 33,125 2,713 35,838
Mortgage-backed securities - 4,269 - 4,269
Corporate security 292 - - 292

          Total available for sale $ 35,898 $ 37,394 $ 2,713 $ 76,005

Nonrecurring:
Impaired loans $ - $ - $ 7,663 $ 7,663
Other real estate owned:

Commercial $ - $ - $ 1,665 $ 1,665
Residential Real Estate $ - $ - $ 153 $ 153
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2012
Level 1
Inputs

Level 2
Inputs

Level 3
Inputs

Total
Fair Value

Recurring:
Securities available for sale:

Federal agencies $ 16,030 $ - $ - $ 16,030
U.S. government sponsored

           entities and agencies 7,902 - - 7,902
States and political subdivisions - 33,231 1,747 34,978
Mortgage-backed securities - 5,615 - 5,615

          Total available for sale $ 23,932 $ 38,846 $ 1,747 $ 64,525

Nonrecurring:
Impaired loans $ - $ - $ 8,231 $ 8,231
Other real estate owned:

Commercial $ - $ - $ 1,336 $ 1,336
Residential Real Estate - - 297 297

Impaired loans are reported net of an allowance for loan losses of $609,000 at December 31, 2013 and $758,000 at 
December 31, 2012.

Other real estate owned, which is measured at the lower of carrying or fair value less costs to sell, had a net carrying 
amount as of December 31, 2013 of $1,818,000, which is made up of the balance of $2,005,000, net of a valuation 
allowance of $187,000. Other real estate owned had a net carrying amount of $1,633,000, made up of the balance of 
$1,825,000, net of a valuation allowance of $192,000, at December 31, 2012.

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of securities available for sale which are 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs during the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

2013 2012
Balance at January 1 $ 1,747 $ 2,232
Net maturities and calls (277) (450)
Unrealized net losses included in other comprehensive income (41) (35)
Purchases 1,284 -

Balance at December 31 $ 2,713 $ 1,747

There were no transfers of financial instruments between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during 2013 and 2012.
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NOTE U – REGULATORY MATTERS

Banks and bank holding companies are subject to regulatory capital requirements administered by federal banking 
agencies.  Capital adequacy guidelines and, additionally for banks, prompt corrective action regulations involve 
quantitative measures of assets, liabilities and certain off-balance-sheet items calculated under regulatory accounting 
practices.  Capital amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by regulators. Failure to 
meet capital requirements can initiate regulatory action that could have a direct material adverse effect on the 
consolidated financial statements.  Prompt corrective action provisions are not applicable to bank holding 
companies.

The prompt corrective action regulations provide five capital categories, including well capitalized, adequately 
capitalized, undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized and critically undercapitalized, although these terms are 
not used to represent overall financial condition.  If adequately capitalized or worse, regulatory approval is required 
to, among other things, accept brokered deposits.  If undercapitalized, capital distributions are limited, as is asset 
growth and expansion, and plans for capital restoration are required.

At year end, actual capital levels and minimum required levels were as follows (in thousands):

Actual

Minimum Required
For Capital

Adequacy Purposes

Minimum Required
To Be

Well Capitalized
Under Prompt Corrective

Action Regulations
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

2013

Total capital (to risk weighted assets)
Consolidated $55,631 13.7% $32,611 8.0% N/A N/A
Bank 53,844 13.3 32,484 8.0 40,605 10.0%

Tier 1 capital (to risk weighted assets)
Consolidated 50,534 12.4 16,305 4.0 N/A N/A
Bank 48,766 12.0 16,242 4.0 24,363 6.0

Tier 1 capital (to average assets)
Consolidated 50,534 9.6 20,967 4.0 N/A N/A
Bank 48,766 9.3 20,928 4.0 26,160 5.0

2012

Total capital (to risk weighted assets)
Consolidated $51,717 13.7% $30,310 8.0% N/A N/A
Bank 50,053 13.3 30,201 8.0 $37,752 10.0%

Tier 1 capital (to risk weighted assets)
Consolidated 46,972 12.4 15,155 4.0 N/A N/A
Bank 45,325 12.0 15,101 4.0 22,651 6.0

Tier 1 capital (to average assets)
Consolidated 46,972 9.3 20,132 4.0 N/A N/A
Bank 45,325 9.0 20,134 4.0 25,168 5.0
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SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

NOTE V – QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) (UNAUDITED)

Interest
Income

Net
Interest
Income

Provision
for Loan
Losses

Net
Income

Earnings Per Share

Basic
Fully

Diluted
2013

First Quarter $ 4,870 $ 4,287 $ 225 $ 1,055 $ .44 $ .44
Second Quarter 4,951 4,416 175 1,079 .45 .45
Third Quarter 5,050 4,530 250 1,207 .50 .50
Fourth Quarter 5,044 4,534 100 1,158 .49 .49

2012
First Quarter $ 4,935 $ 4,141 $ 225 $ 1,002 $ .43 $ .43
Second Quarter 4,969 4,253 475 1,027 .43 .43
Third Quarter 5,057 4,384 350 1,154 .49 .49
Fourth Quarter 5,030 4,396 300 1,167 .49 .49



60  2013 SOUTHERN MICHIGAN BANCORP, INC. ANNUAL REPORT

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Total interest income $ 19,915 $ 19,991 $ 19,387 $ 20,416 21,938
Net interest income 17,767 17,174 15,636 15,946 16,538
Provision for loan losses 750 1,350 1,050 1,375 2,725
Net income 4,499 4,350 3,402 3,098 1,936
Per share data

Basic and diluted earnings per share 1.88 1.84 1.46 1.34 .84
Cash dividends declared .50 .37 .22 .20 .20

Balance sheet data:
Gross loans 386,011 369,605 332,804 309,524 333,079
Deposits 450,400 444,170 420,511 409,901 380,905
Other borrowings - 1,039 7,751 10,079 10,832
Common stock subject to repurchase 2,247 2,065 1,296 1,399 945
Equity 56,827 54,635 51,865 47,843 45,734
Total assets 539,459 528,860 509,220 493,880 462,409

Return on average assets .84% .84% .68% .65% .41%
Return on average equity (1) 8.01 8.09 6.80 6.56 4.29
Dividend payout ratio (2) 22.65 20.23 15.23 15.11 24.13
Average equity to average assets (1) 10.54 10.41 9.96 9.87 9.66

(1) Average equity used in the above table excludes common stock subject to repurchase obligation but includes 
average unrealized appreciation or depreciation on securities available for sale.

(2) Dividends declared divided by net income.

COMMON STOCK MARKET PRICES AND DIVIDENDS

The Company’s common stock is regularly quoted on the OTCQB under the symbol SOMC.  The sale prices 
described below are quotations reflecting inter-dealer prices, without retail markup, markdown or commissions, and 
may not necessarily represent actual transactions.  As of March 10, 2014, there were 2,406,519 shares of Southern 
common stock issued and outstanding held by 377 holders of record.

The following table sets forth the range of high and low closing sales prices and dividends declared on the 
Company’s common stock for the two most recent fiscal years:

2012 2013
Cash

Dividends
Declared

Cash
Dividends
Declared

Closing Price Closing Price
High Low High Low 

Quarter Ended
March 31 $ 12.65 $ 11.20 $ .07 $ 17.95 $ 16.50 $ .12
June 30 14.50 12.50 .09 18.00 17.30 .12
September 30 15.30 13.25 .09 17.60 16.50 .13
December 31 16.75 13.50 .12 17.70 16.55 .13

There are restrictions that currently limit the Company’s ability to pay cash dividends.  Information regarding 
dividend payment restrictions is described in Note P to the consolidated financial statements.
 

$
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